
Indemnification of Auditors
To the extent permitted by law, the Group has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of the terms 
of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). 
The indemnity does not apply to any loss arising out of any negligent, wrongful or wilful acts or omissions by the auditors. 
No payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the financial year.

Non-Audit Services
The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to statutory audit duties where the auditor’s 
expertise and experience with the Group is essential and will not compromise auditor independence. 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to Ernst & Young for audit and assurance and non-audit services provided during the 
year are set out in Note 26 to the financial statements. The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during 
the year and is satisfied these services are compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

All non-audit services have been reviewed by the PEXA Group Audit and Risk Committee to ensure they do not impact the 
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor. 

None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants.

Auditors’ Independence Declaration
The auditors’ independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2022 has been received and can be found on page 57.

Proceedings on Behalf of Group
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any proceedings 
to which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or any part of those 
proceedings. The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

The Directors’ Report includes the Remuneration Report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Mark Joiner 
Independent Chairperson
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 Tel: +61 3 9288 8000 
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777 
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Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of  
PEXA Group Limited  

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of PEXA Group Limited for the financial year ended 
30 June 2022, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; 

b. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and 

c. no non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in 
relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of PEXA Group Limited and the entities it controlled during the financial 
year. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
Christopher Reid 
Partner 
Melbourne 
26 August 2022 
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1. � Letter from Remuneration, Nomination and People  
Committee Chair

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of PEXA Group Limited’s (PEXA or the Company) Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee and the 
Board, I am pleased to present the Remuneration Report covering the 12 months ended 30 June 2022 (FY22).

The purpose of this report is to describe PEXA’s approach to remuneration for Key Management Personnel (KMP) including 
Non-Executive Directors and to demonstrate the links between PEXA’s Remuneration Framework, business strategy, and 
performance and reward. PEXA’s Remuneration Framework has been designed to attract and retain appropriately qualified 
people and ensure they focus on the strategic priorities set by the Board. The goal of our remuneration strategy is to ensure 
it remains fit for purpose, provides a strong link between pay and performance, is consistent with best practice in the 
Australian market, and aligned to shareholder value creation.

This report marks the completion of our first full reporting year as an ASX-listed entity. We have reviewed our performance 
metrics and hurdles and will do so annually to ensure they remain appropriate and provide meaningful and robust stretch targets, 
year on year, for KMP within our stated risk parameters. The Board is committed to upholding a Remuneration Framework that 
meets shareholders’ expectations and requirements and encourages Executive KMP to deliver sustainable performance.

Link between Group Performance and Executive KMP Performance
FY22 was a rewarding year for PEXA – the Company’s focused growth strategy and commitment to our values, our people and 
our community underpinned strong performance. Key financial metrics outperformed both management expectations and 
Prospectus forecasts. The result in FY22 was strong growth in the PEXA Exchange in Australia with record settlement volumes, 
continued progress as planned on our launch into the UK, and further investments to enhance property data and services, in 
particular.

	• PEXA Exchange volumes increased from 3.3 million to 4.05 million

	• Revenue increased by $58.7 million, to $279.8 million

	• PEXA Exchange statutory EBITDA increased by $35.8 million, to $152.7 million.

A combination of these positive financial results and strong delivery against strategic goals for the year have resulted in 
Short-Term Incentive (STI) outcomes for the Executive KMP of 86% of maximum opportunity on average. These outcomes 
reflect strong overall company and individual performance for the year, with the quantum of payments appropriate and 
reflective of strong performance by Executive KMP.

Looking Forward
For the coming financial year, the Board has determined to introduce policies intended to formalise expectations around 
minimum shareholding requirements (MSR) and to further enhance shareholder alignment. The Board will introduce a 
requirement for all Non-Executive Directors to be holding the minimum equivalent of 100% of their annual Board fee (not 
including any committee fees) in PEXA ordinary shares within a five-year period.

A similar requirement for all Executive KMP to hold a minimum of 50% of their Total Package Value (100% for the Group MD 
& CEO) will also be introduced that will require the mandatory deferral of STI into restricted shares until their individual MSR 
has been achieved.

During FY23 we will continue to look for opportunities to strengthen the alignment of our Remuneration Framework to 
shareholder expectations and align to overall business objectives.

On behalf of the Board, we recommend this Report to you and welcome any feedback and comments on any aspect of 
this Report.

Dr Kirstin Ferguson
Chair of the Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee 

26 August 2022
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2.  Introduction
The directors of PEXA Group (PEXA or the Company) present the audited Remuneration Report (the Report) for the 
Company and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2022 (FY22). It has been prepared and audited in 
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 to ensure it meets best practice remuneration practices for 
ASX-listed companies.

The term “remuneration” has been used in this Report, with the same meaning as “compensation” as defined by AASB 124 
“Related Party Disclosures”.

This Remuneration Report sets out remuneration information for KMP who had authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Company during the 2022 financial year, being each of the Non-Executive 
Directors and designated Executives. The use of the term “Executives” in this report is a reference to the Group Managing 
Director & Chief Executive Officer (Group MD & CEO) and certain direct reports during FY22. Refer to Table 1 below for all 
individuals comprising PEXA’s KMP for FY22. All KMP held their positions for the entirety of FY22, unless noted otherwise.

2.1  Key Management Personnel
Table 1:  Key Management Personnel

Name Position Held Since

Non-Executive Directors

Mark Joiner Independent Non-Executive Chairperson 3 May 2021

Vivek Bhatia Non-Executive Director and Link Group nominee director 11 June 2021

Dr Kirstin Ferguson Independent Non-Executive Director 11 June 2021

John Hawkins Non-Executive Director and Link Group nominee director 4 October 2018

Paul Rickard Non-Executive Director and Commonwealth Bank of Australia 
nominee director

11 June 2021

Helen Silver AO Independent Non-Executive Director 10 May 2022

Melanie Willis Independent Non-Executive Director 11 June 2021

Executive Directors

Glenn King Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer 14 October 20191

Executives

Richard Moore Chief Financial Officer 3 February 2020

Simon Smith2 Chief Operations Officer 9 December 2020

1.	 Glenn King commenced as a director on 3 December 2019
2.	 Simon Smith is employed part-time on 30.4 working hours per week
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3.  Executive Remuneration Overview
The key principles of PEXA’s Executive remuneration policy are to:

	• Attract, retain and motivate capable and committed employees and directors;

	• Align the Company’s remuneration policies with the Company’s purpose, values, strategic objectives and risk appetite;

	• Consistently maintain a ‘pay for performance’ culture within the Company;

	• Ensure Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which monitor and reward the performance of the Group MD & CEO and other 
Executive KMP are measurable, and verifiable, contribute to sustainable value improvement while also permitting agility 
and responsiveness to value accretive opportunities that may arise; and

	• Comply with all relevant legal and regulatory provisions.

In alignment with its remuneration strategy, the Board’s policy on Executive remuneration is that it comprises both a Fixed 
Annual Remuneration (FAR) component and “at risk” or performance-related components, Short-Term Incentive (STI) and 
Long-Term Incentive (LTI), where a high portion of remuneration is “at risk”. The level of FAR for Executives is benchmarked 
against that paid for similar positions at the median of comparator ASX companies.

A summary of the Company’s approach to Executive remuneration for FY22, including performance conditions and their 
link to the overall remuneration strategy is set out below:

Performance Conditions Remuneration Strategy/Performance Link

Fixed Annual 
Remuneration (FAR)

Salary and 
other benefits 
(including statutory 
superannuation).

Refer to Section 6.1.1 
for more details.

Considerations

	• Scope of individual’s role

	• Individual’s level of knowledge, skills and 
expertise

	• Company and individual performance

	• Market benchmarking

Set to attract, retain and motivate the right 
talent to deliver on PEXA’s strategy and 
contribute to the Company’s financial and 
operational performance.

For the Company’s Executives, the aim is to 
set fixed remuneration at market relevant 
levels and link any future increases to 
individual performance and effectiveness 
whilst continuing benchmark against to 
market relevance.

Short-Term Incentive 
(STI)

Annual incentive 
opportunity delivered 
100% in cash, 
70% in November 
2022 and 30% in 
November 2023.

Refer to Section 6.1.2 
for more details.

Risk ‘gate’

Individual Executives must deliver risk and 
audit items (as determined by the Board) 
within the agreed timeframes, and risk and 
compliance training for the year must be 
completed. Failure to do so will result in zero 
STI outcome for an Executive KMP.

To align with the Company’s commitment to 
risk mitigation.

Company measures

Generally a maximum of 70% of STI award, 
incorporating metrics relevant to an 
Executive’s area of influence

	• Financial (30%)

	• Member & Customer (40%)

	• Risk (15%)

	• People & Innovation (15%)

To ensure robust alignment of performance 
with reward for Executives.

Performance conditions are designed 
to support the strategic direction of the 
Company (the achievement of which is 
intended to translate through to shareholder 
return) and are clearly defined and 
measurable.
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Performance Conditions Remuneration Strategy/Performance Link

Individual strategic objectives

Generally a maximum of 30% of STI award 
aligned to personal strategic objectives. 
Examples include:

	• Personal financial targets

	• Strategic project initiatives

Key strategic and growth objectives targeted 
at delivering ongoing benefit to the Company.

Long-Term Incentive 
(LTI)

Three-year incentive 
opportunity delivered 
through performance 
rights.

Refer to Section 6.1.3 
for more details

Performance conditions

Distinct categories of performance that are 
weighted to align with the Group’s focus over 
the three-year period that each tranche of 
the plan spans.

	• Earnings Per Share (EPS) (75%)

	• Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR) 
(25%)

Performance conditions designed to 
encourage Executive KMP to focus on the 
key performance drivers which underpin 
sustainable growth in shareholder value. The 
mix of performance conditions is designed to 
ensure the share price growth is supported by 
the Company’s EPS, and not market factors 
alone.

4.  FY22 Company Performance and Relationship to Reward
PEXA’s approach to remuneration is based upon “Reward for Performance”. Individual Executive KMP remuneration is 
differentiated based on various measures of Company and individual performance.

The table below sets out information about the Company’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for FY21 
and FY22.

Company Performance FY22 FY21

Revenue ($’000) 279,839 221,046

Profit/Loss before tax ($’000) 32,920 (8,092)

Profit/Loss after tax ($’000) 21,851 (11,787)

Basic earnings per share (cents) 12.32 (8.54)

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 12.32 (8.54)

Dividends per share - paid during financial year (cents) – –

Share price at 30 June ($)1 13.89 –

1.	 Upon listing on the ASX on 1 July 2021, the share price was $17.13.
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4.1  FY22 Executive KMP Reward Outcomes

1.	� What is the Executive 
KMP remuneration 
structure in FY22? FAR

Maximum  
STI as %  

of FAR

Maximum 
 LTI as %  

of FAR

Glenn King (Group MD &CEO) $925,000 70% 100%

Richard Moore (CFO) $615,000 60% 60%

Simon Smith1 (COO) $384,000 60% 50%

2.	� What is the FY22 
STI payout to 
Executive KMP 
and why?

Company performance makes up 70% of the Executive KMP scorecard and each 
Executive KMP also has a 30% individual performance component. Individual goals are 
designed to be challenging and are linked to business strategy.

FY22 Company financial performance resulted in an average of 86% payout of maximum 
achievement, as 3 of 4 financial measures were met. Of the other Company performance 
conditions, 9 of the 10 were fully met resulting in 86% achievement of maximum for 
this component of Company performance. Additional detail on the Group MD & CEO’s 
performance against his FY22 scorecard is included in Section 7.2.

Each Executive KMP also has a 30% individual performance component. Each Executive 
KMP’s score out of 30% was as follows: Group MD & CEO (27.5%); CFO (27.5%) and 
COO (30%) resulting in total FY22 STI achievements out of the maximums available of: 
Group MD & CEO (85.25%); CFO (85.25%) and COO (87.75%). The payments that these 
outcomes deliver are outlined in more detail under Sections 4.1 and 7.2.

3.	� Did the Board exercise 
discretion when 
considering Executive 
KMP awards in FY22?

Where a formulaic outcome of performance metrics is likely to produce a material and 
perverse remuneration outcome, or where it is in the best interest of shareholders for the 
Board to do so, the Board may consider exercising its discretion in determining awards. 
Discretion was not considered in FY22.

4.	� Were there any 
remuneration reductions 
as a result of COVID-19?

PEXA did not seek government assistance in FY22. Given the resilience of the business 
and performance in FY22, no remuneration reductions were applied. 

1.	 Simon Smith is employed on a part-time basis. FAR is pro-rated to reflect 30.4 working hours per week.

4.2  Realised Remuneration 
In addition to Statutory remuneration included in Section 7.3, Realised Remuneration received by Executive KMPs in FY22 
is displayed below. Realised remuneration is a non-statutory measure and includes FAR, non-monetary benefits and STI. No 
LTI vested in FY22. Realised Remuneration is included to complement the Statutory Remuneration disclosures to illustrate 
the remuneration relating to performance by Executive KMP during the 2022 financial year, and how the Company’s 
performance during the year has impacted on these amounts, particularly the STI component. 

STI represents initial cash payments earned for FY22 performance (70% of the FY22 total award) and deferred STI for the 
FY21 performance (30% of the FY21 total award).

Table 2:  2022 Realised Remuneration

Position FAR
Non-Monetary 

Benefits
Cash STI 
payment

Total Realised 
Remuneration

Group MD & CEO $925,000 $6,950 $498,378 $1,430,328

CFO $615,000 $6,950 $307,654 $929,604

COO $405,2401 $0 $182,221 $587,461

1.	 The COO received a 25% Higher Duties Allowance for 3 months during FY22.
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5.  Remuneration Governance

5.1  PEXA’s Remuneration Principles, Policy and Philosophy
The Board believes that the structure, design and mix of remuneration should, through the alignment of shareholder 
interests with those of a motivated and talented Executive KMP, provide shareholders with the best value. At the same time, 
the Board recognises that it is important to have a remuneration approach that may be adjusted, as appropriate, to address:

	• Industry trends and developments, as well as Executive KMP remuneration and good governance practices; and

	• Feedback from engagement with shareholders and other stakeholders.

In support of this philosophy, PEXA’s remuneration policies are based around two key remuneration principles:

	• Fairly reward and motivate Executive KMPs having regard to the external market, individual contributions to PEXA and 
overall performance of the Company; and

	• Appropriately align the interests of Executive KMP and Shareholders.

The Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee (the Committee) welcomes discussions with shareholders and key 
stakeholders on all remuneration related issues and where appropriate, will take these views into account in formulating 
PEXA’s remuneration approach.

How Remuneration Decisions are Made
Remuneration of all KMP is determined by the Board, acting on recommendations made by the Committee.

The Board and the Committee have absolute discretion when considering the awarding and vesting of STI and LTI 
opportunities to Executive KMPs. The purpose of preserving this discretion is to allow the Board to ensure remuneration 
amounts and structure are at all times appropriate and to prevent any unintended vesting of awards that would arise from a 
purely formulaic application of the metrics. Where a formulaic application of the metrics is likely to produce a material and 
perverse remuneration outcome, or where it is in the best interests of shareholders for the Board to do so, the Board may 
exercise its discretion in determining awards. 

The Board is ultimately responsible for recommendations and decisions made by the Committee.

When determining awards for Executive KMP, the Committee seeks to acknowledge material performance improvement 
in the period it was achieved where the Committee believes that Executive KMP interests are aligned with shareholders. 
Individual Executive KMP do not participate in meetings where their own remuneration is being discussed by the 
Committee or Board. The Group MD & CEO provided the Committee with his perspectives on fixed remuneration and STI 
performance outcomes for his direct reports.

5.2  Role of the Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee
To assist the PEXA Board in carrying out its responsibilities, the Board has established the Committee which has 
responsibility for reviewing and making recommendations to the Board, including those regarding the remuneration 
arrangements in place for the Non-Executive Directors and Executive KMP.

The Committee’s responsibilities include, among other things:

	• Review and make recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s remuneration policies and practices; 

	• Advising and making recommendations to the Board on the composition of the Board and its committees and the 
selection and appointment of directors to the Board and its committees;

	• Advising and making recommendations to the Board on succession plans for the Board and ensuring there are plans in 
place to manage the succession of members of the senior management team;

	• Advising and making recommendations to the Board on the ongoing evaluation of the performance of the Board, its 
committees and Directors;
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	• Assisting the Board with the oversight of a human resources strategy and supporting policies and practices for the 
Company’s employees and Directors, and monitoring the implementation and effectiveness of the strategy, policies and 
practices; and

	• Assisting the Board with the oversight of remuneration policies and practices for the Company’s employees and 
Directors, and monitoring the implementation and effectiveness of the policies and practices.

	• A copy of the charter of the Committee is available on PEXA’s website in the Corporate Governance section.

Committee Membership
Members of the Committee on 30 June 2022 were:

	• Dr Kirstin Ferguson – Independent Non-Executive Director (Chair) (appointed 11 June 2021)

	• Mark Joiner – Independent Non-Executive Chairman (appointed 3 May 2021)

	• Melanie Willis – Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 11 June 2021)

	• Vivek Bhatia – Non-Executive Director (appointed 11 June 2021)

	• Helen Silver AO – Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 10 May 2022)

External Advisers and Independence
The Committee may seek the advice of the Company’s auditors, solicitors or other independent advisers, consultants or 
specialists as to any matter relating to the powers, duties or responsibilities of the Committee. The Committee did not seek 
or receive any remuneration recommendations from external advisers in FY22.

6.  Executive Remuneration

6.1  Remuneration Framework
The figure below illustrates the pay mix at maximum outcomes for the following components of PEXA’s Executive KMP 
Remuneration Framework:

	• Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR)

	• Short-Term Incentive (STI)

	• Long-Term Incentive (LTI)

Figure 1:  Remuneration Pay Mix at Maximum

Group MD and CEO

STI
26%

FAR
37%Fixed

37%
At Risk

63%

LTI
37%

Executive KMP1

STI
28%

FAR
46%

Fixed
50%

At Risk
50%

LTI
26%

1.  Average of Executive KMP LTI Maximum Opportunity. CFO 60%. COO 50%.

6.1.1  Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR)
FAR includes Company superannuation contributions and other salary sacrificed benefits. FAR is set fairly to attract and 
retain Executive KMP, depending on median market remuneration levels and the tenure, ability, and marketability of the 
Executive KMP concerned. 

An annual FAR review budget, agreed by the Board each year, is used to adjust FAR paid to individuals to ensure that their 
fixed remuneration remains competitive for their specific skills, competence, and value to the Company.
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6.1.2  Short-Term Incentive (STI)
Executive KMP have the opportunity to earn an annual STI which is based on a percentage of his or her FAR. The STI 
percentage increases with seniority to ensure a higher proportion of remuneration is “at risk” for Executive KMP positions 
with greater accountability to align with shareholders’ interests.

The table below presents the features and approach for the PEXA STI plan.

Table 3:  FY22 PEXA Executive KMP STI plan

Feature Approach

Purpose To set and reward a high standard of performance measured over a twelve-month period.

Eligibility Executive KMP 

Form of payment Cash 

Opportunity Details of the STI opportunity can be found in the table below.

Name (Position) Max STI
Max STI  

as a % of FAR

Glenn King – Group MD & CEO $647,500 70%

Richard Moore – CFO $369,000 60%

Simon Smith – COO $244,8001 60%

1.	 The COO received a 25% Higher Duties Allowance for 3 months during FY22 that was pro-rated for STI 
purposes

Performance period 1 year

Gateway Priority 1 risk and audit items (as determined by the Board) must be delivered and risk and 
compliance training for the year must be completed. Failure to do so will result in zero STI for 
an Executive KMP.
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Feature Approach

Performance measures The STI is subject to two components of performance:

	• Company performance as measured by the Company Scorecard (70%)

	• Individual performance (30%)

The Company performance outcomes are assessed on four key strategic metrics which 
are in line with Company’s objectives: Financial, Member and Customer, Risk, and People and 
Innovation.

Category Weighting

Company Performance

Financial (including PEXA Exchange EBITDA less CAPEX;  
market share and others)

Member and Customer 

Risk

People and Innovation

70%

Individual Performance

Individual KPIs 
30%

Total 100%

The individual component has goals which are linked to the Company outcomes and 
business strategy. 

Executive KMP goals are approved by the Board. 

At the end of the performance year, Executive KMP will be assessed against their individual 
goals and demonstration of the values and awarded an overall rating in line with PEXA’s 
values as described by Above and Below the Line Behavioural Descriptors. 

The level of any incentive will be assessed at the end of the Company’s financial year, by 
reference to Company performance outcomes and individual achievement, as well as a 
demonstration of behaviours aligned with PEXA’s values.

Malus and/or clawback Consistent with unlisted company market standards, no malus or clawback provisions were 
applicable. However, these provisions will be considered by the Remuneration, Nomination 
and People Committee for future application.

Payment timing 70% of STI is paid in the September following the applicable financial year and 30% of STI 
is deferred to the following September, provided in both instances Executive KMP are still 
employed by PEXA and not under notice of employment termination.

Board discretion The Board also reserves full discretion regarding any STI payments based on holistic factors 
in relation to the business.

Treatment on 
termination

STI is forfeited upon notice of termination.
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6.1.3  Long-Term Incentive (LTI)

Executive KMP have the opportunity to receive an annual LTI grant in the form of Performance Rights, which is based on a 
percentage of his or her FAR. The LTI percentage increases with seniority to ensure a higher proportion of remuneration is 
“at risk” for Executive KMP positions with greater accountability to align with shareholders’ interests.

The table below presents the features and approach for the PEXA LTI plan.

Table 4:  FY22 PEXA Executive KMP LTI plan

Feature Approach

Purpose To set and reward a high standard of performance measured over a three-year period.

Eligibility Executive KMP 

Form of payment Rights, converting to Shares 

Opportunity Details of the LTI opportunity can be found in the table below.

Name (Position)
Value of  

LTI Grant
LTI as a  

% of FAR

Glenn King – Group MD & CEO $925,000 100%

Richard Moore – CFO $369,000 60%

Simon Smith – COO $192,000 50%

Performance period 3 years

Performance measures The LTI is assessed against two independent performance targets:

	• Earnings Per Share (EPS)

	• Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR)

Earnings Per Share performance hurdle – 75% weighting
Underlying EPS Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) is calculated by dividing the 
NPATA by the undiluted weighted average number of shares on issue. The Board chose 
EPS as a performance hurdle because it provides a clear line of sight between Executive 
KMP performance and Company financial performance. It is also a well recognised and 
understood measure both internal and external to PEXA. The vesting schedule of the Rights 
subject to the EPS hurdle is as follows:

EPS CAGR Percentage of Performance Rights that will vest

At or above 25% 100%

Between 15% and 25% Pro-rata vesting from 50% to 100%

At 15% 50%

Less than 15% 0%
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Feature Approach

Performance measures

continued

Relative Total Shareholder Return performance hurdle – 25% weighting
The TSR measure represents change in the PEXA share price over a three-year period and 
includes reinvested dividends (if applicable). The Board chose relative TSR as a performance 
hurdle because it provides a direct measure of shareholder return. Relative TSR is measured 
against constituents of the S&P/ASX200 information technology group. The vesting 
schedule of the rights subject to the relative TSR hurdle is as follows:

Performance Percentage of Performance Rights that will vest

At or above 75th percentile 100%

Greater than 50th percentile 
and up to 75th percentile 

Pro-rata vesting between 50% and 100%

Equal to 50th percentile 50%

Less than 50th percentile 0%

Executive KMP measures are approved by the Board prior to offers being made. 

At the end of the performance period, Company performance is assessed against the 
specific measures detailed above, and a corresponding vesting of Rights into Shares is 
determined. The Company does not use reference to any external share index.

Grant date 21 March 2022

Total fair value
of the grant

$1,160,848 (for 3 KMP only)

Fair value per right $16.11 (for 3 KMP only)

Exercise price per right $0

Expiry date 15 years from grant date

Exercise date Post June 30 2024

Malus and/or clawback Provisions for both Malus and Clawback have been included in the Rules that govern the 
running of this plan.

Exercise timing Any applicable vesting will occur around October, three years post the commencement of 
each particular tranche.

Board discretion The Board also reserves full discretion regarding any LTI vesting, based on holistic factors in 
relation to the business.

Treatment on 
termination

LTI is forfeited upon notice of termination of employee.
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6.1.4  Key Terms of Executive KMP Employment Contracts

The following tables set out the contractual provisions for current Executive KMP.

Each Executive KMP has a formal contract, known as a “service agreement”. These agreements are of a continuing nature 
and have no set term of service (subject to the termination provisions). 

The key terms of the service agreements for the Executive KMP are summarised below:

Table 5:  Key Terms – Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer, Glenn King

Contract duration Commenced 14 October 2019, open ended.

FAR as of 11 June 2021 $925,000. Includes salary and superannuation.

Review of FAR Reviewed annually, effective from 1 July with no obligation to adjust. 

Variable remuneration eligibility The Group MD & CEO is eligible to participate in PEXA’s plans for performance-
based remuneration, and in FY22 that included: 
FY22 STI Maximum opportunity

	• 70% of FAR

	• 70% of STI earned is paid in September 2022. 30% of STI earned is paid  
in September 2023.

Non-compete period Either 3 months or 6 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.

Non-solicitation period Either 6 months or 12 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.

Notice by PEXA 12 months

Notice by Executive 12 months

Termination payments to compensate 
for non-solicitation/non-compete 
clause in certain circumstances

Maximum benefit from termination payment and payment in lieu of notice is 
12 months based on fixed annual remuneration at the date of termination. No 
payment is made for termination due to gross misconduct.

Table 6:  Key Terms – Chief Financial Officer

Chief Financial Officer, Richard Moore

Contract duration Commenced 3 February 2020, open ended.

FAR as of 1 July 2020 $615,000. Includes salary and superannuation.

Review of FAR Reviewed annually effective from 1 July with no obligation to adjust.

Variable remuneration eligibility The CFO is eligible to participate in PEXA’s plans for performance-based 
remuneration, and in FY22 that included: 

FY22 STI Maximum opportunity 

	• 60% of FAR

	• 70% of STI earned is paid in September 2022. 30% of STI earned is paid  
in September 2023.

Non-compete period Either 3 months or 6 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.

Non-solicitation period Either 6 months, 12 months or 24 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.

Notice by PEXA 9 months

Notice by Executive 9 months

Termination payments to compensate 
for non-solicitation/non-compete 
clause in certain circumstances 

Maximum benefit from termination payment and payment in lieu of notice is 
9 months based on fixed annual remuneration at the date of termination. No 
payment is made for termination due to gross misconduct.
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Table 7:  Key Terms – Chief Operations Officer

Chief Operations Officer, Simon Smith

Contract duration Commenced 9 December 2020, open ended.

FAR at date of commencement $384,000. Includes salary and superannuation.

This reflects a 30.4 hour working week.

Review of FAR Reviewed annually effective from 1 July with no obligation to adjust.

Variable remuneration eligibility The COO is eligible to participate in PEXA’s plans for performance-based 
remuneration, and in FY22 that included: 

FY22 STI Maximum opportunity

	• 60% of FAR 

	• 70% of STI earned is paid in September 2022. 30% of STI earned is paid  
in September 2023.

Non-compete period Either 3 months or 6 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.

Non-solicitation period Either 6 months, 12 months or 24 months, whichever is the greater period 
enforceable.

Notice by PEXA 6 months

Notice by Executive 6 months

Termination payments to compensate 
for non-solicitation/non-compete 
clause in certain circumstances 

Maximum benefit from termination payment and payment in lieu of notice is 
6 months based on fixed annual remuneration at the date of termination. No 
payment is made for termination due to gross misconduct.

The Board has full discretion to amend any of the above termination arrangements to acknowledge exceptional 
circumstances and determine appropriate alternative vesting outcomes that are consistent, fair and reasonable, and 
balance multiple stakeholder interests. 

The Board acknowledges that, consistent with its approach to voluntarily adopt certain corporate governance obligations 
not otherwise applicable to PEXA, shareholder approval will be sought where termination payments exceed the limits 
prescribed by the Corporations Act.
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7.  FY22 Remuneration Outcomes

7.1  Fixed Remuneration
There were no adjustments made to Executive KMP Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR) levels for the 2022 period.

7.2  Short-Term Incentive (STI)
The following table outlines the Group MD & CEO’s FY22 performance against his individual scorecard. The same Company 
component applied to all Executive KMP for FY22.

Table 8:  FY22 Group MD & CEO Performance

Measure Weighting Outcome
Successfully 
Achieved

Company Component (70%)

Financial

PEXA Exchange EBITDA less core capex

21.0% 15.75%



Statutory PBT 

QLD market share. ACT market share 

PEXA insights external revenue 

Member & Customer

Getting people into their property on time

28.0% 21.0%



Exchange NPS 

UK pilot contractual commitment 

PEXA Key Invitations 

Risk (15%)

Laws or regulation breach

10.5% 10.5%



Platform Fraud 

External Audit Items 

People & Innovation (15%)

'Action' in Culture & Engagement

10.5% 10.5%



ESG Benchmark 

Brand health 

Group MD & CEO's Individual Component (30%)

Individual Scorecard 30% 27.5% 

100% 85.25%
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Company performance makes up 70% of the Executive KMP scorecard and each Executive KMP also has a 30% individual 
performance component. Individual goals are designed to be challenging and are linked to business strategy.

FY22 performance on the Company financial performance resulted in an average 86% payout of maximum achievement 
as 3 of 4 financial measures were met. Nine out of 10 other Company performance conditions were fully met resulting in an 
86% achievement of maximum for this component of Company performance. Additional detail on the Group MD & CEO’s 
performance against his FY22 scorecard is included in Section 7.2.

Each Executive KMP also has a 30% individual performance component. Each Executive KMP’s score out of 30% was 
as follows: Group MD & CEO (27.5%); CFO (27.5%) and COO (30%) providing total FY22 STI achievements out of the 
maximums available of: Group MD & CEO (85.25%); CFO (85.25%) and COO (87.75%).

The Board approved the following STI outcomes for Executive KMP in August 2022.

Table 9:  FY22 Executive KMP STI Outcomes

Position Total STI

2022  
Cash STI 
payment

F2023  
Cash  

STI payment

%  
Earned  

of Max STI

%  
Forfeited  

of Max STI

Group MD & CEO $551,994 $386,396 $165,598 85.25% 14.75%

CFO $314,573 $220,201 $94,372 85.25% 14.75%

COO $214,812 $150,368 $64,444 87.75% 12.25%
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8.  Non-Executive Director Remuneration

8.1  Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy
Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors is determined by reference to relevant external market data and takes into 
consideration the level of fees paid to directors of other Australian corporations of similar size and complexity to PEXA.

Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors is subject to the aggregate fee pool limit of $2 million per annum. Approval will 
be sought for any change to the aggregate sum at a general meeting of shareholders. 

Fees for Non-Executive Directors are fixed and are not linked to the financial performance of the Company. Non-Executive 
Directors are not entitled to retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation benefits.

The following table sets out the Board fee structure.

Table 11:  Board fees (inclusive of superannuation)

Fee

Board Chairman $350,000

Board Member $160,000

Audit and Risk Committee Chair $30,000

Audit and Risk Committee Member $17,500

Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee Chair $30,000

Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee Member $17,500

In addition to Board and Committee fees, Non-Executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for all reasonable travel, 
accommodation and other expenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board, Committees or shareholders or while 
engaged on PEXA business.

There were no performance-based plans for PEXA Non-Executive Directors.

The table below illustrates the statutory remuneration for the Non-Executive Directors.
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8.2  FY22 Statutory Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors
This table sets out the remuneration of Non-Executive KMP for the 2022 financial year in Australian Dollars and has been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of section 300A of the Australian Corporations Act 2001 and associated 
accounting standards.

Table 12:  Non-Executive KMP (NED) statutory remuneration

Share-based Payments

NED1 Year
Base  

Salary6
Superan-

nuation

Non- 
Monetary 

Benefits

Post- 
Employ-

ment 
benefits 

– Termina-
tion

Bonus 
Shares1

Matched 
Shares2

Options  
& rights

Total  
Statutory 

Remunera-
tion

Mark Joiner 2022 $350,000 – – – – – – $350,000

2021 $58,333 – – – $399,986 $19,991 – $478,310

Vivek Bhatia3 2022 $177,500 – – – – – – $177,500

2021 $8,485 – – – – $19,991 – $28,476

Dr Kirstin 
Ferguson

2022 $188,636 $18,864 – – – – – $207,500

2021 $7,713 $771 – – $149,990 $19,991 – $178,465

John Hawkins4 2022 $177,500 – – – – – – $177,500

2021 $8,485 – – – – $19,991 – $28,476

Paul Rickard 2022 $161,364 $16,136 – – – – $177,500

2021 $7,713 $771 – – – $19,991 – $28,475

Helen  
Silver AO

2022 $25,517 $2,551 – – – – – $28,068

2021 – – – – – – – –

Melanie Willis 2022 $188,636 $18,864 – – – – – $207,500

2021 $7,713 $771 – – $149,990 $19,991 – $178,465

Former NED7

Alan  
Cameron AO5

2022 – – – – – – – –

2021 $143,038 – – $85,000 – – – $228,038

Total 2022 $1,269,153 $56,415 – – – – – $1,325,568

2021 $241,480 $2,313 – $85,000 $699,966 $119,946 – $1,148,705

1.	 Independent Non-Executive Directors received Consideration (or Bonus) Shares in consideration of the services provided to the Company 
in preparation for, and on completion of, the IPO Offer

2.	 Directors participating in the Employee and Director Offer received a 1:4 Matching Share, for a maximum of $100,000 of shares (including 
the 1:4 Matching Share) at no cost to the Director

3.	 Vivek Bhatia’s fees are paid directly to Link Property Pty Ltd 
4.	 John Hawkins’ fees are paid for his services through Somerset Services Pty Ltd
5.	 Alan Cameron retired from the Board on 3 May 2021
6.	 Base fees for 2021 represent date of joining the Board or partial year for which fees commenced
7.	 The following former NEDs (and alternates) served on the Board in 2021 but did not receive any fees: David Singh, Binh Tran, Dan O’Neill, 

Andrew Maclachlan, Janine Rolfe, Mark McLean, Tim Cooper, Marc van’t Noordende
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9. Movements in Shares and Rights in the Company

9.1  KMP Shareholdings
The movements in Share and other Equity Holdings for KMP throughout FY22 are disclosed in the table below.

Table 13:  KMP Shareholdings

NED
Held at  

1/7/21
Shares 

Acquired
Shares 

Disposed
Held at 
30/6/22

Mark Joiner 29,187 – – 29,187

Vivek Bhatia 5,837 – – 5,837

Dr Kirstin Ferguson 14,593 – – 14,593

John Hawkins 5,837 – – 5,837

Paul Rickard 5,837 3,000 – 8,837

Helen Silver AO – – – –

Melanie Willis 14,593 – – 14,593

Executive
Held at  

1/7/21
Shares 

Acquired
Shares 

Disposed1
Held at 
30/6/22

Glenn King 1,458,442 – 302,805 1,155,637

Richard Moore 729,220 – 151,402 577,818

Simon Smith 162,476 – 56,889 105,587

1.	 Shares sold on 1 July 2021 to fund tax liability on shares sold during IPO to repay MEP loans 

9.2 Executive KMP Performance Rights Holdings
The movements in Performance Rights for KMP throughout FY22 are disclosed in the table below.

Table 14:  Executive KMP Performance Rights holdings

Executive
Held at 

1/7/21

Granted 
during 

FY22

Forfeited 
during 

FY22

Expired 
during 

FY22

Vested 
during 

FY22

Exercised 
during 

FY22
Held at 
30/6/22

Glenn King – 58,176 – – – – 58,176

Richard Moore – 22,404 – – – – 22,404

Simon Smith – 11,657 – – – – 11,657

The LTI plan grant of performance rights is for three years from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 therefore no rights were vested 
or were exercised during the year. No rights are exercisable as at 30 June 2022.
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10.  Other KMP Disclosures

10.1  Loans to KMP
In the year ended 30 June 2022, there were no loans to Key Management Personnel and their related parties.

10.2 Other KMP Transactions
In the year ended 30 June 2022, there were no transactions entered into during the year with Key Management Personnel 
(including their related parties).
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Definitions 
Managing Director and Group Chief 
Executive Officer 

The Managing Director and Group Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Chief Financial Officer The Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

Chief Operations Officer The Chief Operations Officer of the Company.

KMP Key Management Personnel. This includes Non-Executive Directors and CEO, 
CFO and COO.

Non-Executive Directors A member of the Company’s board of directors who is not part of the executive 
team and is not involved in the day-to-day management of the Company.

Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR) Includes salary and superannuation.

Short-Term Incentive (STI) Incentive contingent on pre-determined performance measures. Measured 
over one year. Part of an Executive’s ‘at-risk’ pay.

Long-Term Incentive (LTI) Incentive contingent on pre-determined performance measures. Measured 
over more than one year. Part of an Executive’s ‘at-risk’ pay.

Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Key performance indicators. Used to assess and monitor performance of one, 
or a group of executives.
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Financial Statements
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Note
2022

$’000
2021

$’000

Revenue 4 279,839 221,046

Cost of sales 4 (34,525) (29,333)

Gross profit 245,314 191,713

Product development 4 (38,160) (24,501)

Sales and marketing 4 (19,994) (20,096)

General and administrative 4 (79,188) (52,705)

Depreciation and amortisation 4 (66,529) (64,178)

Depreciation of right of use assets 4,13 (1,842) (1,830)

Loss on investments (300) –

Unrealised foreign exchange loss (400) –

Share of loss after tax from investments in associates 23 (162) –

Profit before interest and tax 38,739 28,403

Interest income 502 650

Interest expense on loans and borrowings – related parties 18 – (36,629)

Interest expense on loans and borrowings – other (5,330) (4)

Finance costs associated with leases 13 (487) (512)

Amortisation of debt raising transaction costs (504) –

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 32,920 (8,092)

Income tax expense 6 (11,069) (3,695)

Profit/(Loss) after income tax 21,851 (11,787)

Other comprehensive income 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in future periods

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net of tax (175) –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 21,676 (11,787)

Basic earnings per share (cents) 21 12.32 (8.54)

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 21 12.32 (8.54)

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Note
2022

$’000
2021

$’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 75,391 51,517

Trade and other receivables 8 1,442 2,115

Prepayments and other assets 9 17,323 9,564

Other financial assets 10 24,141 21,451

Total Current Assets 118,297 84,647

Non-Current Assets

Prepayments 9 4,071 –

Property, plant and equipment 11 1,607 823

Intangible assets 12 1,499,965 1,517,259

Right-of-use assets 13 7,850 10,137

Other non-current financial assets 829 250

Investments in associates 23 29,642 –

Total Non-Current Assets 1,543,964 1,528,469

Total Assets 1,662,261 1,613,116

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 49,499 49,858

Interest bearing loans and borrowings – related parties 18 – 192,983

Provisions 16 6,735 4,967

Lease liabilities 13 1,882 1,772

Total Current Liabilities 58,116 249,580

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 17 693 592

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 19 297,989 297,397

Lease liabilities 13 7,625 9,931

Deferred tax liabilities 6d 33,137 23,824

Total Non-Current Liabilities 339,444 331,744

Total Liabilities 397,560 581,324

Net Assets 1,264,701 1,031,792

EQUITY

Contributed equity 20 1,268,362 1,058,198

Reserves 20 8,483 7,589

Accumulated losses (12,144) (33,995)

Total Equity 1,264,701 1,031,792

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Contributed 
equity  
$’000

Share 
Based 

Payments 
Reserve 

 $’000

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve  

$’000

Accumulated 
losses
$’000

Total
$’000

As at 1 July 2020 1,618,632 – – (22,208) 1,596,424

Loss for the year – – – (11,787) (11,787)

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Return of share capital to 
shareholders (Note 18)

(949,490) – – – (949,490)

Share based payment expense 
(Note 20)

– 7,589 – – 7,589

Equity Issuance costs  
(net of tax) (Note 20)

(418) – – – (418)

Exercise of MEP Performance 
Shares (Note 20) 

35,356 – – – 35,356

Conversion of shareholder loans 
to issued shares (Note 18)

354,118 – – – 354,118

As at 30 June 2021 1,058,198 7,589 – (33,995) 1,031,792

As at 1 July 2021 1,058,198 7,589 – (33,995) 1,031,792

Profit for the year – – – 21,851 21,851

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign operations

– – 175 – 175

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Issue of new shares associated 
with Initial Public Offering (IPO)

214,661 – – – 214,661

Equity Issuance costs  
(net of tax) (Note 20)

(4,497) – – – (4,497)

Share based payment expense 
(Note 20)

– 719 – – 719

As at 30 June 2022 1,268,362 8,308 175 (12,144) 1,264,701

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Note
2022

$’000
2021

$’000

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Cash from operating activities:

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 307,354 241,929

Interest received 502 650

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (212,257) (129,116)

Interest paid on loans/lease liabilities (5,818) (4,179)

Net cash flows from operating activities 7 89,781 109,284

Cash flows from investing activities:

Development of intangible assets 12 (48,625) (22,601)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (1,394) (498)

Investments in other non-current financial assets (879) (250)

Investments in associates 23 (29,804) –

Net cash flows used in investing activities (80,702) (23,349)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Share capital raise at IPO 20 214,661 –

Repayment of shareholder loans 18 (192,982) (400,000)

Payment of equity issuance costs 20 (4,908) (598)

Proceeds from borrowings 19 – 300,000

Payment of borrowing costs 19 – (2,603)

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 13 (1,749) (1,634)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 15,022 (104,835)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 24,101 (18,900)

Impact of changes in foreign exchange rates (227) –

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 51,517 70,417

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7 75,391 51,517

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  Corporate information

a.  Reporting entity
The consolidated financial statements (the financial statements) comprise that of PEXA Group Limited and its subsidiaries 
(the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2022. They were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors on 26 August 2022. The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

b.  Initial public offering (IPO) and listing on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX)
The Group’s shares began trading on the ASX on 1 July 2021, following the successful completion of an IPO under the 
code PXA.

There were multiple steps involved in the Group’s listing process, some of which occurred during the year ended 30 June 
2021 with the remaining impacts recognised during the year ended 30 June 2022. IPO related transactions that have had an 
impact on the year ended 30 June 2022 include the items below. These items should be considered in conjunction with the 
descriptions contained within Note 1(b) of the PEXA Group’s annual consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2021 
that contains further details on the various IPO steps.

	• Repayment of remaining shareholder loans (Note 18)

	• Transaction costs (Note 4)

	• New equity issued upon IPO (Note 20)

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies

a.  Basis of preparation and statement of compliance

i.  Statement of compliance
�This financial report is a general-purpose financial report, for a ‘for-profit’ entity, which has been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other applicable authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial statements also comply with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

�The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. The financial statements are presented in 
Australian Dollars. 

ii.  Rounding
�Amounts within this report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (unless otherwise stated) under the option available to 
the Group under ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191.

b.  Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Group is a going concern, which assumes continuity 
of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of 
business. The Directors consider that the basis of going concern is appropriate and the company will continue to meet 
its ongoing obligations.
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c.  New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

i.  Adoption of new accounting standards effective this year
There were no new accounting standards adopted during the year that had a material impact on the Group’s 
financial statements. 

ii.  Other standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted by the Group
	•  Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendments to AASB 3

	•  AASB 17 Insurance Contracts

	•  Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Amendments to AASB 101

	•  Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments to AASB 108

	•  Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to AASB 108 and AASB Practice Statement 2

	•  Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction – Amendments to AASB 112 

	•  �Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture – Amendments to AASB 10 
and AASB 128 

The Group has considered other accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued and will be 
applicable in future periods, however their impact is not considered material to the Group.

d.  Cash and short-term deposits
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in-hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

e.  Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for purchases of goods and services by the Group. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and 
due to their short-term nature, they are not discounted.

f.  Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the 
associate.

The financial information and statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When 
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on 
its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within 
“Share of profit of an associate” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair 
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the 
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit and loss.
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g.  Financial instruments

i.  Financial assets
Recognition and subsequent measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially 
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs. Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price determined under AASB 15 as disclosed 
in Note 2(j).

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise 
to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding (apart from 
equity instruments which can be designated as fair value through OCI). This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and 
is performed at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate 
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling 
the financial assets, or both. Currently, the Group’s business model for all financial assets is to hold in order to collect 
contractual cash flows. This results in the Group’s principal financial assets being subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. These include:

	• Trade and other receivables, and

	• Other financial assets.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or when the Group 
has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and has either transferred substantially all of the risks and 
rewards associated with the asset or control of the asset to a third party.

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through 
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and 
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. 
Refer to Note 8 for further details of the Group’s approach to recognising ECL’s on trade receivables.

ii.  Financial liabilities
Recognition and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or financial 
liabilities at amortised cost, consistent with their subsequent measurement.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities at amortised cost, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s principal financial liabilities at 30 June 2022 include external loans, trade and other payables which are 
measured at amortised cost.

86 PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements



Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The 
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party 
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred, or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss 
as other income or finance costs. 

iii.  Measurement of financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost
Financial instruments measured at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) 
method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocating the interest income or 
expense over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

h.  Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at historical cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Such cost includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing the parts 
is incurred. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred.

As property, plant and equipment is not considered to generate independent cash flows, the carrying amount of these 
assets is included within the assets of the cash generating unit assessed as part of the Group’s impairment testing process 
as outlined in Note 2(l). 

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows:

Property Plant and Equipment – over 3 to 5 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are 
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

i.  Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the 
right to use the underlying assets.

i.  Right of use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease 
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or 
estimated useful life (being between 0.5 and 4.5 years).
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ii.  Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable 
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees but do not include payments relating to non-lease 
components of the agreement. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain 
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 
exercising the option to terminate. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the 
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.

The present value of lease payments is calculated using the interest rate implicit within the lease or, if this is not readily 
determinable, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (IBR). The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to 
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the 
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.

iii.  Short-term leases and leases of low value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have a lease 
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of 
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

iv.  Leases acquired in a business combination 
For leases acquired in a business combination, the Group measures the acquired lease liabilities using the present value 
of the remaining lease payments at the date of acquisition. Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to lease 
liabilities, adjusted to reflect the favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease relative to market terms.

j.  Revenue and income

i. � Revenue from contracts with customers – Property Settlement Transactions (PST)
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. 

The Group currently generates the majority of its revenue from PST fees collected from Subscribers for electronic 
conveyancing transactions completed on the PEXA exchange. The Group recognises revenue on the day of successful 
settlement and lodgement of an electronic conveyancing transaction (point in time). It is only at this point that the 
performance obligation to provide the electronic conveyancing network is satisfied and that PEXA is entitled to collect PST 
fees. PST fees are collected as a disbursement of settlement funds at the time of settlement or via direct debit when the 
electronic conveyancing transaction does not include financial settlement. Direct debits are processed on the evening of 
the day of lodgement.

PEXA groups its PST fees into three categories: 

	• �Transfer lodgements: dealings connected to the transfer of a property title or sales transfer, and any associated 
discharges and mortgages in conjunction with the property transfer and other ownership transfers such as inheritance 
and family law matters. 

	• �Refinancing lodgements: dealings connected to the refinance of a debt facility secured by a mortgage, but which are 
not connected to a sales transfer and involve a discharge of an existing mortgage replaced by a new mortgage. 

	• �Other lodgements: other dealings lodged, either alone or together, but which are not connected to a transfer lodgement 
or a refinance lodgement (such as a standalone discharge of mortgage lodged after a loan has been wholly repaid), a 
standalone mortgage lodged after a new loan is advanced, caveat-related dealings, death-related dealings, and lease-
related dealings.
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ii.  Interest income 
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. 

k.  Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any 
non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition 
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss in accordance with AASB 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of AASB 9 is measured at 
fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group 
re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the 
procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of 
the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, 
the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining 
the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the 
disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

l.  Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets other than goodwill and indefinite life intangibles are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The Group conducts an annual internal review of asset values, which is used as a source of information to assess for any 
indicators of impairment. External factors, such as changes in expected future processes, technology and economic 
conditions, are also monitored to assess for indicators of impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of 
the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other 
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the impairment may have reversed.
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m.  Intangible assets

i.  Initial recognition
Intangible assets are recognised when they are identifiable, it is probable that they will result in future economic benefits 
flowing to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an internal project is recognised only when the Group 
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its 
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate probable future economic benefits, 
the availability of resources to complete the development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to 
the intangible asset during its development.

ii.  Subsequent measurement
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected 
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered 
to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the expense 
category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets. The table below outlines the amortisation periods and 
methods currently applied to the Group’s finite life intangibles (which are consistent with those applied in the prior period): 
 

Intangible software assets 
and customer relationships Operational procedures

Useful lives 15 years 3 years

Amortisation method used Amortised over the period of expected 
future benefits on a straight-line basis

Amortised over the period of expected 
future benefits on a straight-line basis

Internally generated or acquired Both internally generated (development 
costs) and acquired.

Acquired

 
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (including 
goodwill) are not amortised or an intangible asset not yet available for use, but are tested for impairment annually, either 
individually or at the cash-generating unit level (refer Note 2(l)). 

The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. 
If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included 
in the statement of profit or loss.

n.  Research and development costs
Costs incurred on internal projects that do not meet the criteria outlined in Note 2(m)(i) above for recognition as an internally 
generated intangible asset (development costs) are recognised as an expense in profit or loss.
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o.  Provisions and employee benefits
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. Where the provisions are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of 
the annual reporting period in which the obligation arises, the liability is discounted to present value based on management’s best 
estimate of the timing of settlement and the expenditure required to settle the liability at the reporting date. 

The discount rates used to determine the present value of employee-related provisions are determined by reference 
to market yields at the end of the reporting period attaching to high-quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity 
and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows of the related liability.

p.  Share-based payments transactions
Certain employees (including senior executives) of the Company receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity settled transactions).

i.  Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an 
appropriate valuation model often with the assistance of external experts, further details of which are given in Note 20.

That cost is recognised in employee benefits expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based 
payments reserve), over the period in which the service and, where applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled (the 
vesting period). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until 
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of 
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the statement of comprehensive income for 
a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair value of 
awards, but the likelihood and probability of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of 
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant 
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are considered 
to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate 
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service 
conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated 
as vested irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance 
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair value 
of the unmodified award, provided the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense, measured as at the date 
of modification, is recognised for the increase in fair value over the original grant date fair value.

Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award 
is expensed immediately through profit or loss.

ii.  Cash-settled transactions
If a share-based payment transaction is expected to be settled by way of cash, a liability is recognised for the fair value of 
cash-settled transactions. The fair value is measured initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settlement 
date, with changes in fair value recognised in share based payments expense. The fair value is expensed over the period 
until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability. The approach used to account for vesting conditions 
when measuring equity-settled transactions also applies to cash-settled transactions.
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iii.  Transactions with cash and equity settlement alternatives
The Group’s share-based payment plans during the year ended 30 June 2021 had both cash and equity settlement 
alternatives. Where the settlement method is contingent on the occurrence of certain events which are outside the control of 
the Group (for example a change in control of the Group), the relevant share based payment plan will be accounted for as either 
cash or equity settled based on the most probable vesting method at the grant date and reassessed at each reporting date, 
taking into account the facts and circumstances that exist at that time. Refer to Note 3 for discussion of considerations and 
judgements relevant to the settlement method accounting for the former Management Equity Plan.

Where a share based payment is initially accounted for as equity settled at the grant date and in a subsequent period 
the expected settlement method changes to cash, the fair value of the liability to settle in cash at the date of the change in 
settlement expectations is recognised in equity to the extent the vesting period has expired. In subsequent periods the fair 
value of the liability is accounted for in accordance with the Group’s policy on cash settled transactions.

q.  Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus or minus transaction costs that are directly attributable. 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs and any discount or premium 
on settlement.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities when the Group has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur apart from where they directly relate to the raising of qualifying 
assets. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

r.  Contributed Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

s.  Income tax and other taxes

i.  Income tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

	• �When the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss.

	• �When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that sufficient taxable temporary differences exist relating to the same taxation 
authority and the same taxable entity which are expected to reverse or it is probable (probable is considered as more likely 
than not) that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

	• �When the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

	• �When the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset 
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are 
expected to be settled or recovered.

Where there is uncertainty as to the tax treatment of a particular item by tax authorities, the Group considers whether 
it is probable that the taxation authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment. If the Group concludes that the position is 
not probable of being accepted, the effect of the uncertainty is measured based on the most likely amount or the expected 
value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty. If the Group concludes 
that the position is probable of being accepted, the Group reflects amounts consistently with the treatment used or planned to 
be used in its income tax filings.

ii.  Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

	• �when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

	• receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables 
in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a net basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating 
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority.
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t.  Cost of Sales
Cost of sales primarily relates to fees paid to state land registries for property information relating to settlements. 
The Group incurs these expenses on a per lodgement basis in advance of when a transaction completes. Costs associated 
with open transactions at year end are recorded in the statement of financial position as an asset and recognised as an 
expense when the transaction completes.

u.  Comparative Figures
Where applicable, comparative amounts have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current financial 
year. Where applicable, presentation or classification of items in the financial statements has been amended, comparative 
figures have been reclassified unless reclassification is impractical.

v.  Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of PEXA Group Ltd and its subsidiaries as at 
30 June 2022. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls 
an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

	• �Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee) 

	• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

	• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when 
the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

	• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee 

	• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 

	• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over 
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the 
Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the 
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating 
to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling 
interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment 
retained is recognised at fair value.
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w.  Fair value
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole: 

	• Level 1 — �Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

	• �Level 2 — �Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is directly or indirectly observable 

	• �Level 3 — �Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable

x.  Software as a Service Arrangements (SaaS)
The Group evaluates whether a SaaS arrangement provides the customer a resource that it can control.

Where the Group has the power to obtain future economic benefits flowing from the use of an underlying resource and to 
restrict access of others to those benefits, any costs incurred to configure or customise SaaS arrangements are recognised 
as a separate intangible software asset and amortised over the useful life of the software on a straight-line basis. If costs 
are incurred to configure or customise SaaS arrangements and do not result in the recognition of an intangible software 
asset, those costs are recognised as expenses when the supplier provides the services. 

3.  Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates 
in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses.

Management bases its judgements and estimates on historical experience and on other various factors it believes to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of the carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources.

Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates 
and assumptions are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions 
and may materially affect financial results or the financial position reported in future periods.

Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the 
financial statements.

Significant accounting judgements

i.  Taxation
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement to assess whether deferred tax assets are 
recognised on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. As detailed in Note 6(d), at 30 June 2022 the Group has 
recognised deferred tax assets of $144.6 million primarily relating to carry forward tax losses.

Recognition of deferred tax amounts are subject to significant judgement, risk and uncertainty, particularly around the 
interpretation of relevant taxation law, in particular the satisfaction (or continued satisfaction) of either the continuity 
of ownership or business continuity tests. Changes in circumstances or interpretations of taxation law could alter 
expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised on the 
Statement of Financial Position and the availability of amounts in future financial periods. Additionally, a deferred tax asset 
is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
future profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.
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ii.  Capitalisation of internally developed software and impairment assessments
Distinguishing between the research and development phases of a new customised software project and determining 
whether the recognition requirements for the capitalisation of development costs as discussed in Note 2(m)(i) are met, 
requires judgement. After capitalisation, management monitors whether the recognition requirements continue to be met 
and whether there are any indicators that capitalised costs may be impaired. 

iii.  Recognition of transaction costs relating to the issuance of shares
Transaction costs were incurred in connection with the PEXA Group’s IPO. Where costs related jointly to one or more 
transactions, judgement has been used to allocate and deduct these costs from equity based on the proportion of new 
shares issued to existing shares. Remaining transaction costs will be recognised within profit and loss.

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

i.  Estimation of useful lives of assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the expected 
utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change the utility of certain 
software and IT equipment. Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary.

ii.  Settlement method and valuation of the Management Equity Plan
As detailed in Note 20, during the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group approved a limited recourse loan funded Share 
based incentive plan (MEP) to link remuneration rewards more directly to the value drivers of the business. As part of the 
IPO process, MEP Performance Shares vested and were converted to Ordinary Shares on 29 June 2021.

Estimating the fair value for share-based payment transactions required determination of the most appropriate valuation 
model which, for equity settled plans, depends on the terms and conditions of the grant at grant date. This estimate also 
required determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option 
or appreciation right, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. Different inputs and assumptions 
may lead to different determinations of fair value. The valuation method applied by the Group and key estimates and 
assumptions is detailed in Note 20.

iii.  Impairment testing of intangible assets (including goodwill)
The Group assesses whether its intangible assets (including goodwill) are carried above their recoverable amount on an 
annual basis or when there are other indicators of impairment. Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of fair value 
less costs of disposal (FVLCD) and value-in-use (VIU). The Group completes its impairment assessment based on all known 
facts and circumstances, incorporating its best estimates from information available at reporting date. 

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group applied a VIU discounted cash flow methodology to assess recoverable 
amount. However, at 30 June 2021, due to the timing of the IPO and ASX listing, the Group considered sufficient evidence 
was provided by the IPO transaction prices. This transaction involved external market participants and therefore a FVLCD 
approach was adopted. 

Given the best evidence of an asset’s FVLCD is a price in a binding sale agreement in an arm’s length transaction, the Group 
considered the use of the IPO transaction price as appropriate for assessing recoverable amount at 30 June 2021. Refer to 
Note 12 for further information.
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4.  Revenue, Income and Expenses

2022  
$’000

2021  
$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Transfers 221,255 178,911
Refinances 40,414 30,026
Other exchange transactions 14,884 9,699
Other products 3,286 2,410
Total revenue from contracts with customers 279,839 221,046

Cost of sales (34,525) (29,333)

Product development expenses1

Employee benefit expenses2 (20,725) (9,501)
IT and technology costs (17,435) (15,000)

(38,160) (24,501)
Sales and marketing expenses
Employee benefit expenses2 (15,931) (17,076)
Travel and entertainment (1,122) (777)
Sales and marketing (2,941) (2,243)

(19,994) (20,096)
General and administrative expenses
Employee benefit expenses2 (26,317) (23,680)
Share based payment expense – MEP (Note 20(b))2 – (6,267)
Share based payment expense – LTI (Note 20(b))2 (719) –
Employee and Director incentive shares2 – (1,322)
Professional fees (13,662) (8,326)
Occupancy expenses (609) (611)
Transaction costs associated with IPO (excluding Employee benefit costs)3 (23,972) (6,470)
Insurance (including Directors and officers and public offering of securities) (5,509) (1,388)
Other4 (8,400) (4,641)

(79,188) (52,705)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (609) (550)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment – (1)
Amortisation of Intangibles (65,858) (63,308)
Write off of intangible assets (62) (319)

(66,529) (64,178)

Depreciation of right of use assets (1,842) (1,830)

1.	� Product development expenses relate to amounts incurred on development of the PEXA Exchange software and the UK Exchange that did 
not meet the Group’s criteria for capitalisation as an intangible asset.

2.	 Total employee benefits expense for the year was $63.7 million (30 June 2021: $57.8 million).
3.	� Transaction costs, including amounts payable to the Joint Lead Managers of the IPO, were incurred on or after the successful completion of 

the IPO on 1 July 2021.
4.	 Other general and administration expenditure is predominantly recruitment, Directors’ fees and bank charges.
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5.  Segment Information 
The Group has three reportable operating segments, being:

	•  �PEXA Exchange: comprising the Australian Electronic Lodgement Network (ELN) and financial settlement platform 
which operates in the Australian electronic conveyancing market. The PEXA Exchange facilitates the collaboration 
between subscribers (Members) across the property ecosystem to enable the transfer and settlement of transactions 
in real property.

	•  �PEXA International: the Group is developing an “international” version of the PEXA Exchange platform that is intended 
to provide digital property lodgement and settlement solutions for new jurisdictions. PEXA has chosen the UK (through 
England and Wales) as the first jurisdiction for its international expansion.

	•  �PEXA Insights: seeks to appropriately leverage its near real time, accurate and comprehensive property data and other 
data sources to generate valuable data-driven insights for property market participants.

Target customers of the PEXA Exchange are Members who execute Lodgement and Settlement Services Transactions. 
These include financial institutions lending funds for property purchases and refinances, practitioners representing 
individual buyers and sellers and property developers. Members pay fees for each Exchange Transaction lodged via the 
Exchange. The price the Group charges for these services is regulated and price increases are capped. 

At 30 June 2021, the Group only identified one reportable operating segment (the PEXA Exchange) given the preliminary 
development of PEXA International and PEXA Insights. As at 30 June 2022, the Group has recognised these two additional 
segments based on the on-going development of the International Exchange and PEXA Insights now managing material 
acquired investments and developing operational products. Information that relates to PEXA International and PEXA 
Insights has been restated for the comparative year ended 30 June 2021.

The Group does not currently generate revenues from transactions with a single external customer for amounts equal to or 
greater than 10% of total revenue.

Separate segment performance reports are provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (CODMs) (being the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer) on a monthly basis to aid decision making around resource allocation and 
performance assessment. 

The CODMs manage and monitor performance on Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA), 
which is a non-IFRS measure. EBITDA is calculated as statutory net profit adjusted for interest, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and certain other costs not relating to core segment operations and activities (such as project and business 
expansion related costs). 

Assets and liabilities for the reporting segments currently only include intangible assets and investments in associates. 
PEXA International assets include $20.0 million of capitalised in-house software assets. PEXA Insights assets primarily 
include the Group’s investments in associates and are subject to equity accounting. Other Group assets and liabilities 
remain unallocated for segment reporting purposes.
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Segment results
The segment financial information provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers is set out below:

Year ended 30 June 2022

PEXA 
Exchange

$’000

PEXA 
International 1 

$’000

PEXA  
Insights

$’000
Total

$’000

Segment operating revenue 

Platform revenue 276,553 – – 276,553

Other 3,220 – 66 3,286

Total segment revenue 279,773 – 66 279,839

Cost of sales (34,525) – – (34,525)

Gross margin 245,248 – 66 245,314

Resource costs (55,051) (6,777) (5,049) (66,877)

Other operating expenses (37,503) (5,427) (1,388) (44,318)

Segment EBITDA2 from core operations 152,694 (12,204) (6,371) 134,119

PX Ventures (1,076)

Expenses including redundancy and restructure (1,399)

Transaction costs associated with IPO 
(excluding employee benefit costs) 

(23,972)

Unrealised foreign exchange loss (400)

Share of loss after tax from investments 
in associates

(162)

Depreciation and amortisation (68,371)

Interest expense (net) (5,315)

Amortisation of debt raising transaction costs (504)

Statutory net profit before tax 32,920

1.	 International costs are incurred in subsidiaries in the United Kingdom (Digital Completion UK Ltd) and Australia (Property Exchange Australia Ltd). 
2.	 EBITDA represents statutory net profit before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation and is a non-IFRS measure.
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Year ended 30 June 2021

PEXA 
Exchange

$’000

PEXA 
International 1

$’000

PEXA  
Insights

$’000
Total

$’000

Segment operating revenue

Platform revenue 218,636 – – 218,636

Other 2,410 – – 2,410

Total segment revenue 221,046 – – 221,046

Cost of sales (29,333) – – (29,333)

Gross margin 191,713 – – 191,713

Resource costs (45,777) (2,695) (1,125) (49,597)

Other operating expenses (29,000) (1,860) (846) (31,706)

Segment EBITDA2 from core operations 116,936 (4,555) (1,971) 110,410

Expenses including redundancy and restructure (1,540)

Transaction costs associated with IPO 
(excluding employee benefit costs) 

(8,192)

Pre IPO management equity plan expense (6,267)

Depreciation and amortisation (66,008)

Interest expense (net) (36,495)

Statutory net loss before tax (8,092)

6.  Income Tax
a.  Income tax (expense)/benefit 
The major components of income tax expense are:

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Current income tax

Current income tax charge – –

Deferred income expense

Utilisation of prior year tax losses (4,119) –

Relating to deferred tax on temporary differences (9,712) (13,811)

Deferred tax – research and development tax credit (687) (501)

Adjustment in respect of prior years 1,966 129

Adjustments in respect of management equity plan – (995)

Recognition of current period tax losses carried forward – 10,982

Recognition of current period tax credits carried forward 1,483 501

Income tax (expense) reported in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (11,069) (3,695)
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b. � Reconciliation between profit/(loss) before tax and income tax (expense)/
benefit recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A reconciliation between tax expense, and the accounting profit/(loss) before income tax multiplied by the Group’s 
applicable income tax rate is as follows:

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax 32,920 (8,092)

(Expense)/benefit at the Group’s statutory tax rate of 30% (2021: 30%) (9,876) 2,428

Adjustments in respect of current income tax

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (687) –

Expenditure not allowable for income tax (3,267) (5,252)

Adjustment in respect of prior years 1,966 129

Deferred tax – research & development tax credit (687) (501)

Recognition of current period tax credits carried forward 1,483 501

Adjustment in respect of management equity plan – (995)

Other adjustments (1) (5)

Income tax (expense) reported in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (11,069) (3,695)

c.  Amounts recognised directly in equity/balance sheet
Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period, not recognised in net profit or loss but directly debited or 
credited to equity/balance sheet.

In the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group incurred various transaction costs in relation to the IPO. At 30 June 2021, these 
were recognised as prepayments (net of tax impacts) to the extent they were considered directly attributable to the issue of 
equity that occurred upon listing on 1 July 2021. 

In the year ended 30 June 2022, additional expenses relating to the issue of new shares on 1 July 2021 were recognised 
directly in equity and those previously recognised as prepayments were transferred to equity. 

Other remaining transaction costs in the year ended 30 June 2022 are recognised immediately in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Net deferred tax – debited/(credited) directly to prepayments1 171 (171)

Net deferred tax – (credited) directly to share issuance reserve (1,927) (179)

Total (1,756) (350)

1.	 Deferred tax on transaction costs that were reclassed to equity post 30 June 2021.
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d.  Deferred tax balances 
Deferred tax balances are offset in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as the Group has a legally enforceable 
right to set off deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority. Refer to Note 3 for details in relation to judgements associated with taxation. The gross deferred tax balances 
are shown below: 

Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Intangible assets (177,763) (165,622) (12,141) (16,137)

Deferred Tax Assets

Transaction costs 12,875 10,731 2,144 (2,207)

Provisions and accruals 9,312 8,163 1,149 3,997

Carry forward tax losses and tax credits 122,439 122,904 (465) 11,002

Total Deferred Tax Assets 144,626 141,798 2,828 12,792

Net Deferred Tax Liabilities (33,137) (23,824) (9,313) (3,345)

The Group, via its subsidiary in the United Kingdom, also incurred £3.4 million (A$6.2 million) of pre-trading expenses in 
the years ended 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022, which gives rise to an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £0.7 million 
(A$1.2 million) at the United Kingdom corporate tax rate of 19%. Pre-trading expenses will be claimed in the tax 
computation as a deductible item when the United Kingdom subsidiary commences trading, and it is expected any deferred 
tax assets may become eligible to be recognised at that time.

e.  Members of the Australian tax consolidated group

i.  Members of the Australian tax consolidated group and the tax sharing arrangement 
PEXA Group Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group with effect 
from 18 December 2018. Property Exchange Australia Limited and PEXA SettleAssist Pty Ltd joined the tax consolidated 
group on 16 January 2019 post their acquisition by PEXA Group Limited. PEXA Group Limited is the head entity of the tax 
consolidated group. Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement that provides for the 
allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. 

PEXA Group Limited has two wholly owned subsidiaries in the United Kingdom which are not part of the Australian tax 
consolidated group and are standalone taxpayers in the United Kingdom (refer Note 22(c)).

ii. � Tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group 
(AASB Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting) 

The head entity and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and 
deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of 
current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. The current and deferred tax 
amounts are measured in a systematic manner that is consistent with the broad principles in AASB 112 Income Taxes. 
The nature of the tax funding agreement is discussed further below.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises current tax liabilities (or assets) and 
the deferred tax assets arising from carry forward tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the 
tax consolidated group.
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iii.  Nature of the tax funding agreement 
Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement requires 
payments to/from the head entity to be recognised via an inter-entity receivable (payable) which is at call. 

The amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the 
head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require 
payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments.

7.  Current Assets – Cash and Cash Equivalents

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 60,391 51,517

Short-term deposits 15,000 –

75,391 51,517

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) for the year to net cash inflow from operating activities

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Profit/(Loss) after income tax 21,851 (11,787)

Adjustments for:

Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation 68,309 65,689

Debt raising transaction costs amortisation 504 –

LTI/MEP 1,710 6,267

Share of loss of associates 162 –

Remuneration cost of issuing Directors/employee shares – 1,322

Impairment of intangibles 63 319

Loss on Investments 300 –

Capitalised interest on shareholder loans – 32,966

Unrealised FX loss 400 –

Income tax expense 11,069 3,695

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 673 (1,222)

(Increase) in prepayments/other assets (13,088) (1,780)

Increase/(decrease) in payables (3,051) 12,348

Increase in provisions 879 1,467

Net cash inflows from operating activities 89,781 109,284

PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022 103



8.  Current Assets – Trade and Other Receivables 

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Trade receivables from contracts with customers 1,202 1,223

Rental bonds – 203

Other receivables 240 689

1,442 2,115

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is made based on applying a simplified approach in calculating the 
expected credit losses (ECL). Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises an ECL 
allowance based on the lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group’s provisioning methodology is based on its historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking factors specific to the economic environment. Given PST fees from 
transactions on the PEXA Exchange are collected via direct debit from settlement proceeds the Group has no history of 
credit losses and does not expect this to change in the future. Accordingly, the allowance for ECLs at 30 June 2022 was nil 
(30 June 2021: nil).

9.  Prepayments and Other Assets 

Current
2022

$’000
2021

$’000

Prepaid insurance 6,257 2,058

Prepaid software licensing and support 5,256 2,346

Prepaid land registry fees – lodgement support services 1,658 1,821

Prepaid ASX listing fees – 1,393

Other prepayments 2,824 1,547

Other assets1 1,328 399 

17,323 9,564

Non-current
2022

$’000
2021

$’000

Prepaid insurance 4,071 –

1.	� For 30 June 2021, other assets represent costs incurred prior to 30 June 2021 (net of tax) that were directly attributable to the IPO and 
ASX listing. They were subsequently recognised as a deduction against equity on 1 July 2021 contemporaneously with the issuance of new 
equity on that date.
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10.  Current Assets – Financial Assets

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Other financial assets 24,141 21,451

24,141 21,451

Other financial assets represent lodgement fees that the Group has collected in cash on behalf of the state-based Land 
Title Registries. These funds are also shown as a payable in trade and other payables (refer Note 15) and are passed on to 
the Land Title Registries within 3 business days of lodgement. The funds are held in separate bank accounts and are not 
available for use by the Group.

11.  Non-Current Asset – Property, Plant and Equipment 
Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the year

Furniture  
and fittings

$’000

 Office and 
computer 

equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

Cost

At 30 June 2020 158 1,645 1,803

Additions 19 479 498

Disposals – (15) (15)

At 30 June 2021 177 2,109 2,286

Other 5 – 5

Additions 17 1,377 1,394

Disposals – (594) (594)

At 30 June 2022 199 2,892 3,091

Depreciation and Impairment

At 30 June 2020 (61) (867) (928)

Depreciation charge for the year (37) (513) (550)

Disposals – 15 15

At 30 June 2021 (98) (1,365) (1,463)

Other (6) – (6)

Depreciation charge for the year (36) (573) (609)

Disposals – 594 594

At 30 June 2022 (140) (1,344) (1,484)

Net book value

At 30 June 2021 79 744 823

At 30 June 2022 59 1,548 1,607
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12.  Non-Current Assets – Intangible Assets

Goodwill
$’000

Software 
Assets
$’000

In-House 
Software 

Assets
$’000

Operational 
Procedures

$’000

Customer 
Relation-

ships
$’000

Brand
$’000

Licenses 
$’000

Total
$’000

Cost

At  
30 June 2020

693,551 438,900 73,090 1,871 397,451 23,660 14,959 1,643,482

Additions – – 22,601 – – – – 22,601

Write off 
of intangible 
asset

– – (342) – – – – (342)

At  
30 June 2021 693,551 438,900 95,349 1,871 397,451 23,660 14,959 1,665,741

Additions – – 48,626 – – – – 48,626

Write off 
intangible asset

– – (62) – – – – (62)

At  
30 June 2022 693,551 438,900 143,913 1,871 397,451 23,660 14,959 1,714,305

Amortisation and impairment

At  
30 June 2020

– (42,800) (2,964) (913) (38,520) – – (85,197)

Amortisation – (29,439) (6,748) (624) (26,497) – – (63,308)

Write off 
intangible asset

– – 23 – – – – 23

At  
30 June 2021

– (72,239) (9,689) (1,537) (65,017) – – (148,482)

Amortisation – (29,388) (9,685) (334) (26,451) – – (65,858)

Write off 
intangible asset

– – – – – – – –

At  
30 June 2022 – (101,627) (19,374) (1,871) (91,468) – – (214,340)

Net book value

At  
30 June 2021

693,551 366,661 85,660 334 332,434 23,660 14,959 1,517,259

At  
30 June 2022 693,551 337,273 124,539 – 305,983 23,660 14,959 1,499,965
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a.  Intangible Assets
The Group’s intangible software assets consists of acquired intangibles and capitalised “in-house” software 
development costs.

Amortisation and useful life of intangible assets 
Where applicable, intangible assets are amortised over the period of expected future benefits (useful life) on a straight-line 
basis. The useful lives of the Group’s intangibles assets are set out below:

Goodwill Indefinite life

Intangible software assets and customer relationships 15 year useful life

Operational procedures 3 year useful life

PEXA Brand Indefinite life

Licences Indefinite life

As identified in the table above, the PEXA Brand and Licences have been assessed as having indefinite useful lives and are 
not amortised. The Group has considered the following factors in making this assessment:

a.	 �PEXA Brand: The Group expects to use this indefinitely and expects any hypothetical acquirer would continue to utilise 
the brand. 

b.	� Licences: These represent licences from the e-conveyancing regulator and are critical to the operations of the business. 
Accordingly, management intends to continually renew these licences.

International (UK) in-house software is currently not being amortised as the UK platform remains under development and is 
not yet operational and generating revenue. 

No impairments were identified in the year ended 30 June 2022 other than the write off of certain in-house intangible 
assets (2021: nil).

b.  Impairment testing

Background
The Group determines whether its intangible assets (including goodwill) are carried above recoverable amount on an 
annual basis. For impairment testing purposes the Group identifies its cash generating units (CGUs), which are the smallest 
identifiable groups of assets that generate cash flows largely independent of cash inflows of other assets or other groups of 
assets. 

The Group monitors goodwill at a segment level. Goodwill, Software, Customer Relationships, Brand and Licences have 
been allocated to the PEXA Exchange CGU for the purposes of impairment testing. In-house Software assets are allocated 
to the appropriate CGU.

30 June 2022 assessment
For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group applied a value-in-use (VIU) discounted cash flow methodology to assess the 
recoverable amount of the PEXA Exchange and PEXA International. Key inputs and assumptions to the VIU calculation 
are outlined below.

PEXA Insights assets primarily include the Group’s investments in associates. These investments are subject to equity 
accounting under AASB 128 Investments in Associates. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is 
objective evidence or if there are indicators that an investment in the associate is impaired. At 30 June 2022 no indicators 
were identified that an investment in an associate or intangibles are impaired. Refer to Note 23 for further details of the 
Investments in Associates.
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Key inputs and assumptions
The table below summarises key assumptions used in the VIU model for the year ended 30 June 2022. Further information on 
how these were determined is contained below.

PEXA 
Exchange 

PEXA 
International 

Nominal discount rate (post-tax) 8.21% 12.43%

Terminal growth rate 3% n/a

Terminal EBITDA multiple n/a 15x

Forecast cash flows 5 years 5 years

Discount rates 
The discount rate is calculated based on the Group’s estimated weighted average cost of capital, with reference to the 
estimated cost of interest-bearing borrowings and estimated cost of equity which is derived from external sources of 
information and the Group’s debt to equity mix. Risk premiums have also been considered for the PEXA International CGU 
given the development of the platform.

Forecast cash flows
Forecast cash flows are derived from Board approved profit and cash flow forecasts and do not include restructuring 
activities that the Group is not yet committed to or possible future investments. 

In developing these forecast cash flows, management has considered and used a range of judgments and assumptions 
relating to forecast transaction levels, revenue growth including competitor activity, overhead costs and discount rates. 
In addition, the timing of operational activity has been specifically considered in relation to PEXA International.

Furthermore, the Group continues to track lead indicators (state-by-state property listing and sales information plus 
PEXA Exchange workspace invitations). This allows management to monitor the drivers of future property transactions 
which could impact future revenue and business value. 

Price assumptions are based on current regulated prices under the Model Operating Requirements (MOR) as set and 
governed by the regulator. Estimated price increases are based on the consumer price index.

A terminal growth rate is applied for PEXA Exchange to the last year of forecast cash flows to derive a terminal value for the 
VIU calculation. A terminal EBITDA multiple is applied for PEXA International to the last year of forecast cashflows to derive 
terminal value for the VIU calculation.

Growth rate estimates
Rates are based on published government long term economic growth rates and expected industry growth rates.
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Sensitivity considerations 
Sensitivities to the key assumptions within the VIU calculations were also tested. The table below sets out the change 
in an individual key assumption that would result in the recoverable amount determined by the VIU assessment being 
approximately equal to the carrying value of the PEXA Exchange and PEXA International CGUs.

Change in assumption resulting in recoverable 
amount being equivalent to carrying value – increase/(decrease)

PEXA 
Exchange 

PEXA 
International 

Nominal discount rate (pre-tax) 1.46% 2.67%

Terminal growth rate (1.9%) n/a 

Terminal EBITDA multiple n/a (1.1x)

Forecast cash flow input to terminal value calculation (27%) n/a

Forecast EBITDA input to terminal value calculation n/a (7.5%)

30 June 2021 assessment
As at 30 June 2021, a fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCD) approach was adopted for the Group including PEXA 
International. Given the best evidence of an asset’s FVLCD is a price in a binding sale agreement in an arm’s length 
transaction, the Group considered the use of the IPO transaction price, in which equity in the Group was purchased 
by external market participants, as appropriate for assessing the recoverable amount of the PEXA Exchange CGU. 
The Group was listed on the ASX on 1 July 2021 (one day after 30 June 2021) with a market capitalisation of $3.0 billion, 
as compared to the carrying value of the PEXA Exchange CGU at 30 June 2021 of $1.5 billion.

13.  Leases 
Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts pertaining to three office spaces for which right of use assets have been recognised. 
The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of leases acquired in a business combination is contained in Note 2(i). 

These leases are for office space and have lease terms of 0.5 to 4.5 years.

The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the Group is restricted 
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets and some contracts require maintenance of certain financial ratios.

The Group also has certain leases of office spaces with lease terms of 12 months or less. The Group applies the “short-term 
lease” recognition exemptions for these leases.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the current and 
prior periods:

Right-of-use 
assets 
$’000

At 1 July 2020 10,063

Additions 1,904

Depreciation expense (1,830)

At 30 June 2021 10,137

Additions 101

Lease modification (546)

Depreciation expense (1,842)

At 30 June 2022 7,850
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The following is a reconciliation of the lease liabilities as at 30 June 2022:

Lease 
liabilities 

$’000

At 1 July 2020 11,433

Additions 1,904

Accretion of interest 512

Payments made (2,146)

At 30 June 2021 11,703

Additions 101

Lease modification (548)

Accretion of interest 487

Payments made (2,236)

At 30 June 2022 9,507

Below is the allocation of lease liabilities between current and non-current liabilities at 30 June 2022:

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Lease liabilities

Current lease liabilities 1,882 1,772

Non-current lease liabilities 7,625 9,931

Total 9,507 11,703

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 1,842 1,831

Interest expense on lease liabilities 487 512

Expense relating to short-term leases (temporary office space) 120 276

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 2,449 2,619

The Group has total cash outflows for leases of $2.2 million for the year ended 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: $2.4 million).

One of the Group’s office lease contracts includes an extension option which allows the Group to extend the arrangement at 
future market rates upon expiry. This provides the Group flexibility in managing its office space requirements. The extension 
option has not been included in the measurement of the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised as it is not 
considered reasonably certain it will be exercised. The potential future cashflows if this option was exercised in 2026 are 
approximately $12.0 million.

110 PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements



14.  Capital and Financial Risk Management 

Financial risk management
In the course of its operations the Group is exposed to certain financial risks that could affect the Group’s financial position 
and performance. This note explains the sources of these risks, how they are managed by the Group and exposure at 
reporting date. The table below outlines the financial instruments held by the Group:

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Financial assets/(liabilities) measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 75,391 51,517

Trade and other receivables 1,442 2,115

Other financial assets 24,141 21,451

Other non-current financial assets 829 250

Interest bearing loans and borrowings – related parties – (192,982)

Interest bearing loans and borrowings (297,989) (297,397)

Trade and other payables (49,499) (49,858)

Total net financial (liabilities)/assets (245,685) (464,904)

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, other financial assets, interest bearing loans and 
borrowing – related parties and trade and other payables are considered to approximate their carrying amounts due to the 
short term-maturities of these instruments. The carrying value of interest-bearing loans and borrowings is also considered 
to approximate its fair value given the facilities are subject to varying interest rates, by a Bank Bill Swap Rate (BBSY) that is 
subject to market fluctuations. 

Approach to risk management
The Group takes a balanced approach to risk and seeks the most advantageous position when managing its affairs. 
It adopts a controlled and transparent approach and ensures all business is carried on with honesty and integrity and 
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

The Group’s process for the management of risk is by using a risk management framework (RMF) and related policies 
to guide management. The overall process for the management of risk is documented in the RMF.

The Chief Risk Officer oversees the operational management of risk in line with the RMF and related policies/guidelines and 
reports regularly to the Group’s Audit and Risk Committee.

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.

Certain companies within the Group (known as the Obligor Group), entered into a senior unsecured 4-year revolving debt 
facility of $335 million documented under a Syndicated Facility Agreement (SFA) on 23 June 2021. The Banking Facilities 
are guaranteed by the Obligor Group and the interest on borrowings under the facility is calculated based on a margin of 
1.82% over the BBSY which is subject to market fluctuations. A +/- 100 basis point movement in interest rates would impact 
interest expense on loans and borrowings on the drawn down debt facility at the end of period by +/- $3.0 million.

The Group holds cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at floating rates (cash at bank) and fixed rates (short term 
deposits). A +/- 100 basis point movement in interest rates would impact interest earned on cash held at the end of the 
period by +/- $0.8 million (30 June 2021: 25 basis points +/- $0.1 million).
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group aims to maintain the level of its cash and cash equivalents at an amount in excess of expected wind-up costs 
in the event the Group was to be wound up. An assessment of the expected wind-up costs is made on a monthly basis 
to assist Directors with assessing the Group’s solvency.

The table below presents the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual 
maturities for all non-derivative financial liabilities. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. Estimated interest and principal payments are based on forward interest rates prevailing at year end and are 
undiscounted. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Maturing In:

1 Year 
or less 
$’000

1 to 5 
Years
$’000

> 5 Years 
$’000

Contractual 
Total

$’000

Carrying 
Amount

$’000

2022

Financial liabilities 24,141 – – 24,141 24,141

Trade payables, accruals 
and other payables

25,358 – – 25,358 25,358

Interest bearing loans
and borrowings

10,281 320,392 – 330,673 297,989

Lease liabilities 2,284 8,261 – 10,545 9,507

Total 62,064 328,653 – 390,717 356,995

2021

Financial liabilities 21,451 – – 21,451 21,451

Trade payables, accruals
and other payables

28,407 – – 28,407 28,407

Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings – related parties

192,982 – – 192,982 192,982

Interest bearing loans 
and borrowings

5,118 315,128 – 320,246 297,397

Lease liabilities 2,281 9,901 1,114 13,296 11,703

Total 250,239 325,029 1,114 576,382 551,940
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Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial asset held by the Group fails to meet their financial obligations. 
The Group does not consider itself to be subject to significant credit risk as trade receivables due from subscribers are 
predominantly collected automatically as a disbursement from settlement funds through transactions completed on the 
PEXA Exchange. Receivables from transactions that do not include financial settlement are collected via direct debit on the 
day the transaction is completed on the PEXA Exchange.

Investments of surplus funds as cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets are made only with approved 
counterparties and within investment limits assigned to each counterparty. The limits are set to minimise the concentration 
of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through a counterparty’s potential failure to make payments. The approved 
counterparties comprise of the four major Australian banks which maintain investment grade external credit ratings.

Capital management
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to maintain flexibility so as to allow further investment into the PEXA 
Exchange platform and pursuit of growth opportunities. The Group currently monitors contributed equity on ordinary 
shares and cash and cash equivalents as capital. To fulfill capital management objectives, the Group may issue new shares 
or seek other new sources of capital such as loans and borrowings.

The Group believes that it has sufficient cash to fund its operational and working capital requirements to meet its business 
objectives. The Directors note that in the future it may need to raise additional funds in order to support more rapid 
expansion, respond to competitive pressures, acquire complementary businesses or technologies or take advantage of 
unanticipated opportunities. 

The Group considers it has the ability to seek to raise further funds through equity or debt financing, joint ventures, licensing 
arrangements, strategic relationships or other means.

15.  Current Liabilities – Trade and Other Payables

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Financial liabilities (a) 24,141 21,451

Trade payables (b) 3,647 4,532

Other accruals 18,812 23,469

Superannuation payable 57 31

Other payables 2,842 375

Total 49,499 49,858

a.  Financial liability 
The Group holds funds as a collection agent of lodgement fees for Land Title Registries. These funds are held in other 
financial assets (refer Note 10) and passed on to the Land Title Registries within 3 business days of lodgement.

b.  Trade payables
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day term from month end.

c.  Fair value 
Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
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16.  Current Liabilities – Provisions 

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Annual leave 4,788 3,877

Long service leave 1,947 1,090

Total 6,735 4,967

17.  Non-Current Liabilities – Provision 

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Long service leave 693 592

18. � Current Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings –  
Related Parties

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

At 1 July 2021 192,982 –

Return of capital – 949,490

Interest expense – 36,629

Interest paid – (3,663)

Acquisition of ordinary shares from MEP participants – (35,356)

Conversion of shareholder loans – (354,118)

Repayment of shareholder loans (192,982) (400,000)

Total – 192,982

On 1 July 2021, the remaining outstanding balance of interest-bearing loans – related parties were repaid as part of the IPO 
settlement process.

During the year ended 30 June 2021 issued capital was converted to shareholder loans. Prior to 30 June 2021, 
$789.5 million of existing shareholder loans were either repaid or converted to ordinary shares in the Group. 

The remaining outstanding balance at 30 June 2021 of $193.0 million was repaid on 1 July 2021 from the proceeds of new 
equity issued upon IPO.
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19.  Non-Current Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Borrowings – unsecured 300,000 300,000

Deferred borrowing costs1 (2,011) (2,603)

Total 297,989 297,397

1.	� Deferred borrowing costs comprise the unamortised value of borrowing costs paid on establishment or refinance of debt facilities. These 
costs are deferred on the Statement of Financial Position and amortised to borrowing costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Certain companies within the Group (known as the Obligor Group), entered into a senior unsecured 4-year revolving debt 
facility of $335 million documented under a Syndicated Facility Agreement (SFA) on 23 June 2021. The New Banking 
Facilities are guaranteed by the Obligor Group and the interest on borrowings under the facility is calculated based on 
a margin of 1.82% over the BBSY.

On 29 June 2021, a $300.0 million initial drawdown from the new banking facilities (less establishment fees), in conjunction 
with proceeds from the sale of new Shares under the Offer, was utilised to repay existing shareholder loans and pay 
transaction costs in relation to the Offer.

As at 30 June 2022 there were no defaults or breaches of any obligations of the Group under the SFA.

20.  Contributed Equity and Reserves

a.  Ordinary shares

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Issued and fully paid 1,268,362 1,058,198

Total 1,268,362 1,058,198

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.
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Movement in ordinary shares on issue No. of shares $’000

At 1 July 2020 138,007,181 1,618,632

Return of capital – (949,490)

Exercise of MEP Performance shares1 6,037,789 35,356

Conversion of shareholder loans (Note 18) 20,672,382 354,118

Equity issuance costs (net of tax)3 – (418)

At 30 June 2021 164,717,352 1,058,198

Shares issued upon IPO2 12,531,289 214,661

Share based payments to employees and Directors in connection with IPO2 77,147 –

Equity issuance costs (net of tax)3 – (4,497) 

As at 30 June 2022 177,325,788 1,268,362

1.	� As detailed in Note 20(b) 6,037,789 MEP Performance shares vested in connection with the IPO and were exercised and converted to ordinary 
shares. The value of limited recourse loans associated with the MEP Performance shares that were repaid upon exercise was $35.4 million. 

2.	� Upon listing on the ASX on 1 July 2021, a further 12,608,436 ordinary shares were issued at $17.13 per share to new and existing 
shareholders. The Company received proceeds of $214.7 million as a result of the IPO (before repayment of outstanding shareholder loans 
of $193.0 million and underwriting & management fees of $20.1 million for IPO Joint Lead Managers).

3.	� Prior to and post 30 June 2021, certain transaction costs were incurred in connection with the IPO. Amounts relating directly to the issue 
of new equity upon conversion of the shareholder loans were recognised as a reduction in equity.

b.  Reserves 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
2022

$’000
2021

$’000

Opening balance – –

Current year movement 175 –

Total 175 –

Share Based Payments Reserve
2022

$’000
2021

$’000

Opening balance 7,589 –

Share based payment expense – MEP Performance shares – 6,267

Share based payment expense – LTI Plan related payments 719 –

Share based payment expense – IPO related payments (Refer below) – 1,322

Total 8,308 7,589

Benefits are provided to employees (including the Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Senior Executives) of the Group 
in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity/rights over shares.

116 PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements



On 30 September 2021, the Group’s Board approved PEXA’s Limited Equity Long Term Incentive Plan (LTI Plan) for Senior 
Executives. The LTI Plan aims to set and reward a high standard of performance over a three-year vesting period, tied to the 
appropriate company performance measures.

On 21 March 2022, the Group’s Board approved the FY22 LTI Plan grant of Performance Rights to eligible employees. 
The total fair value of the FY22 LTI Plan grant was $2,105,562.

Key features of the FY22 LTI Plan include:

Required period of employment: three years from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024

Performance hurdles:
	•  �Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR): 25% of the LTI Plan is subject to performance against a relative TSR metric. 

Relative TSR combines the security price movement and distributions (which are assumed to be reinvested), to show 
the total return to securityholders, relative to that of other companies in the TSR comparator group, which 
is the ASX 200 Information Technology Index. The vesting scale is as follows:

Relative TSR
Vesting % 

of max

Below 50th percentile Nil

At 50th percentile 50%

50-75th percentile Pro rata

At 75th percentile or above 100%

	•  �Earnings per share (EPS): 75% of the LTI Plan is subject to performance against an EPS metric. EPS is calculated based 
on NPATA, which is calculated as statutory net profit after tax and after adding back tax-effected amortisation of acquired 
intangible assets. The EPS growth measured as compound annual growth rate (CAGR) over the performance period and 
vests on the following scale:

EPS CAGR
Vesting % 

of max

Less than 15% Nil

At 15% 50%

15-25% Pro rata

At 25% or above 100%

Across all aspects of the LTI Plan the Board has full discretion to make adjustments where there would be a material and/or 
perverse outcome not to do so. These adjustments may have a positive or negative impact on outcomes.

LTI Plan Valuation
The fair value of performance rights granted under the LTI Plan is estimated at the date of grant using a combined Black 
Scholes option pricing model and Monte Carlo simulation option pricing model (TSR rights) taking into account the terms 
and conditions upon which the performance rights were granted. For grants with non-market vesting conditions (EPS), the 
grant date fair value is expensed over the vesting period and adjusted to reflect the actual number of rights for which the 
related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met. The grant date fair value of awards with market 
performance conditions (TSR) reflects the probability of these conditions being met and hence the expense recognised 
over the vesting period is only adjusted for changes in expectations as to whether service criteria will be met. The fair value 
of TSR rights has been calculated at $11.63 per share and EPS rights at $16.13 per share.
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Key inputs and assumptions

Weighted average fair values at the measurement date ($) 16.27

Dividend yield (%) 1.00

Expected volatility (%) 25.00

Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.38

Closing share price as at the grant date ($) 16.50

Model used Combined – Black-Scholes option pricing model and Monte 
Carlo simulation option pricing model 

The movements in the number of LTI Plan Grant of Performance Rights on issue during the year are as follows:

Performance 
Rights  WAEP

At 1 July 2021 – –

Granted during the year 167,301 16.27

Forfeited during the year – –

Expired during the year – –

Vested and exercised during the year – –

At 30 June 2022 167,301 –

30 June 2021 – Management Equity Plan (MEP)
In previous years, the Long Term Incentives for PEXA Executives and other identified critical personnel prior to listing was 
encapsulated in the Management Equity Plan (MEP). The MEP was completed and closed prior to the ASX Listing Date of 
1 July 2021 and is no longer in operation.

In addition, during the year ended 30 June 2021 the Group recognised expenses for share based payments relating to the 
IPO and ASX listing and the MEP. Although the ASX listing did not occur until post 30 June 2021, the commitment to issue 
the shares was completed prior to the end of the reporting period and therefore the cost to the business of issuing shares 
for no compensation was recognised.

The purpose of the MEP was to enable eligible employees (participants) to subscribe for MEP Performance shares in 
PEXA Group Limited using a non-recourse interest bearing loan and enabling them to share in the financial growth and 
performance of the Group. The invited participants are employees of Property Exchange Australia Limited (PEAL, a 100% 
owned subsidiary of PEXA Group Limited).

When an offer was made to a Participant, a limited recourse interest bearing loan was entered into to assist the 
Participant to acquire the MEP Performance shares. As the recourse on the loan was limited to the underlying MEP 
Performance shares, the MEP Performance shares were treated as options for accounting purposes. Accordingly, no loan 
receivable, increase in contributed equity or the number of shares on issue were recorded when the MEP Performance 
shares were issued.
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On 23 July 2020, the Group approved a grant of 5,830,781 MEP Performance shares (Grant 1). Participants were issued 
MEP Performance shares in three classes (Class A, B and C) based on the investment ownership percentage of the 
three shareholders of PEXA Group Limited (pre IPO). Each shareholder was associated with a class of MEP Performance 
share. The MEP Performance shares did not carry any voting rights or entitle the holder to any dividends or any returns 
on a reduction of capital or upon winding up of the Company. The MEP rules detailed that plan had a life of 10 years from 
1 January 2020 and under the requirements of the MEP rules:

1.	� All of the MEP Performance shares issued would be unvested on issue, and vest on a tenure basis in line with the MEP 
rules. Unvested MEP Performance shares would only vest, in tranches by reference to the period of service (time) 
and Internal Rate of Return (IRR) for each shareholder following that participant’s MEP start date during which the 
participant remains continuously employed.

2.	� Vesting service periods assuming continuous employment were detailed as < 2nd anniversary: (Nil), 2nd anniversary: 
(15% of MEP Performance shares will vest), 3rd anniversary: (30%), 4th anniversary: (45%), 5th anniversary: (60%), 
6th anniversary: (75%), 7th anniversary: (90%); and 8th anniversary: (100%).

3.	 The service periods were also subject to leaver provisions (good and bad) as detailed in the MEP rules.

On 23 April 2021, the Group approved an additional grant of 897,041 performance shares under this plan (Grant 2)  
(this grant included 690,033 shares previously forfeited).

The MEP rules also included details on exit events or MEP liquidity events. A MEP liquidity event meant, in respect 
of a shareholder which is the first to occur of: (a) a Share Sale; (b) an Asset Sale; (c) a Listing; and (d) a Shareholder Exit.

If a shareholder exited, the class of a participants MEP Performance shares related to that shareholder would be put up 
for sale in line with the sale of the shareholder’s ordinary shares. Other MEP classes would stay on foot. The Board would 
assess the tenure served from the MEP start date until the date of the exit event in order to determine which shares are 
“vested” and which shares are “unvested”.

The MEP detailed that for those MEP Performance shares that were vested, the proceeds on this portion would be paid 
in full at exit event with those proceeds firstly applied towards repayment of the limited recourse loan. Those that were 
unvested could also be sold into an exit event but the proceeds relating to unvested shares and would be split into three 
tranches with two of those tranches deferred i.e. 50% of proceeds on unvested shares will be paid at the exit event,  
30% of the proceeds will be deferred for 1 year and the remaining 20% will be deferred for 2 years. 

However, the Board and Shareholders also had the discretion to determine the method of settlement, whether it be cash 
payments or equity settlement. If a listing or IPO event was to occur, unless otherwise determined under the Shareholders’ 
Deed, each MEP Performance share in each relevant MEP class would put into the share offering in connection with the listing. 
The MEP plan would be collapsed and all vesting services periods waived. The Board and Shareholders had the discretion to 
determine the method of settlement, whether it be cash payment or equity settlement.

As the MEP contained equity and cash settled alternatives in certain scenarios, the initial and ongoing assessment of 
the expected settlement method of the plan required judgement. In making the judgement that the expected settlement 
method of the MEP at the grant date and over the life of the plan was via equity, the Group considered the most likely 
vesting outcomes under the plan that would apply based on the facts and circumstances that existed over the life 
of the plan. As part of the IPO process, MEP shares vested and were converted to Ordinary Shares on 30 June 2021. 
The expense recognised in relation to the MEP between issuance and vesting was $6.3 million. 
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The movements in the number of MEP Performance shares on issue during the year ended 30 June 2021 were as follows:

Class A
Class A 

WAEP Class B
Class B 

WAEP Class C
Class C  

WAEP

At 1 July 2020 – – – – – –

Granted 
July 2020

2,332,312 4.85 2,575,889 4.85 922,580 4.85

Forfeited during 
the year1

(276,013) – (304,839) – (109,181) –

Expired during 
the year

– – – – – –

Granted 
April 2021

358,816 10.32 396,290 10.32 141,935 10.32

Vested and 
exercised during 
the year

(2,415,115) – (2,667,340) – (955,334) –

At 30 June 2021 – – –

1. 	� Following forfeiture, MEP Performance shares were held as treasury shares by the Group. As they were issued and forfeited for nil 
consideration, they do not change the value of issued capital.

For Grant 1, the weighted average fair value of MEP Performance shares granted during the period was $0.77 per share. 
The exercise price for the MEP Performance shares granted in July 2020 was $4.85 (granted with an exercise price of 
$11.73 and reduced by $6.88 to $4.85 due to return of capital to shareholders). 

For Grant 2, the weighted average fair value of MEP Performance shares granted during the period was $2.56 per share. 
The exercise price for the MEP Performance shares granted in April 2021 was $10.32.

MEP issued 
July 2020

MEP issued 
April 2021

Weighted average fair values at the measurement date ($) 0.77 2.56

Dividend yield (%) 3.00 3.00

Expected volatility (%) 20.00 20.00

Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.89 1.68

Weighted average share price ($) 5.62 12.88

Model used Probability weighted expected 
returns methodology

If a shareholder exited, the class of a Participants MEP Performance shares related to that shareholder class would be put 
up for sale in line with the sale of the shareholder’s Ordinary Shares. Other MEP classes stayed on foot.

The expected life of MEP Performance shares was assumed for valuation purposes and probability weighted based on the 
timing of potential assessed exit event outcomes for Consortium members.
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21.  Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated as profit/(loss) after income tax attributable to owners of the Group, adjusted to 
exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares. 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the weighted average number of shares for potentially dilutive ordinary shares.

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Profit/(Loss) after income tax attributable to owners of the Group 21,851 (11,787)

WANOS(1) used in calculation of basic EPS 177,291 138,080

Effects of dilution from:

Performance Rights 46 –

WANOS(2) used in calculation of diluted EPS 177,337 138,080

Basic EPS (cents per share) 12.32 (8.54)

Diluted EPS (cents per share) 12.32 (8.54)

1. 	 Weighted average number of ordinary shares.
2. 	� The WANOS used in the calculation of diluted EPS includes potentially dilutive ordinary shares under the LTI Plan. The WANOS for 

the prior period to 30 June 2021 has not been adjusted for the potentially dilutive ordinary shares relating to the MEP as this would have 
been anti-dilutive.

22.  Related Party Disclosures 

a.  Key Management Personnel 
Compensation for key management personnel (KMP), includes Directors and Executive Committee members remuneration, 
superannuation and bonuses recognised as an expense during the reporting period is disclosed in the table below.

KMP are those persons who, directly or indirectly, have authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling 
the major activities of the Group. For the year ended 30 June 2022, Executive KMP are deemed to be the Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer.

Executive KMP
2022 

$’000
2021 

$’000

Short-term employee benefits – Executive KMP 3,098 2,515

Share based payments – MEP – 3,458

Share based payments – LTI Plan 387 –

Other long-term benefits 22 1

Post-employment benefits – Superannuation 74 59

Total 3,581 6,033

Non-executive KMP

Short-term employee benefits – Non-executive KMP 1,269 242

Share based payments – Bonus Shares – 700

Share based payments – Matched Shares – 120

Post-employment benefits – Superannuation 56 2

Post-employment benefits – Termination – 85

Total 1,325 1,149
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b.  Transactions with related parties
Other than as disclosed below, there were no transactions with KMP and their related parties during the year ended 30 June 
2022 (30 June 2021: none). The total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties for the 
relevant financial year are:

Related party – entities with significant influence over the Group
2022 

$’000
2021 

$’000

Link Holdings (expenses for share registry management) (207) (7)

CBA Group (revenue) 19,782 16,046

CBA Group (like the three other major Australian financial institutions) is a customer of the Group that utilises the PEXA 
Exchange for registering and discharging mortgages over properties on behalf of their customers.

The above transactions were completed on an arm’s length basis and on the same terms as all other financial institutions.

c.  Parent entity and relationship with subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the parent entity, PEXA Group Limited, which is domiciled and 
incorporated in Australia and all its subsidiaries.

Name
Place of 

incorporation
% of equity 

interest
% of equity 

interest

2022 2021

PEXA Group Limited Australia

Torrens Regulated Group Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

PEXA Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

PEXA Technology Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

PEXA Services Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Property Exchange Australia Ltd Australia 100% 100%

ACN 634 025 853 Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

DigCom UK Holdings Ltd UK 100% 100%

Digital Completion UK Ltd UK 100% 100%

PEXA Insights (Holdings) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

PEXA Insights Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

PEXA SettleAssist Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

PX Ventures (Holdings) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

PX Ventures Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
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23.  Investment in Associates
Investments during the year are detailed below:

Landchecker
On 28 February 2022, PEXA Insights acquired a 38% shareholding in Landchecker Holdings Pty Ltd (Landchecker).

Landchecker is a Melbourne-based business that is aligned with PEXA’s purpose of transforming property experiences for 
everyone. Landchecker offers its customers a “one-stop source” of information about a property – including characteristics 
such as zoning and usage restrictions.

The associate had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 30 June 2022.

Elula
On 17 June 2022, PEXA Insights acquired a 26.5% shareholding in Elula Holdings Pty Ltd (Elula).

Elula is a Sydney-based business which enables businesses to make smarter decisions through the intelligent use of data. 
Together with PEXA’s data and analytics capabilities, this investment enables a more holistic view of critical lending and 
refinancing consumer behaviour, further amplifying PEXA’s capabilities for financial institutions. 

The associate had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 30 June 2022.

The following table illustrates the summarised aggregated financial information of the Group’s investment in associates: 

2022 
$’000

PEXA’s share of net assets of investment in associates 2,549

Goodwill 27,093

PEXA’s carrying amount of investment in associates 29,642

PEXA’s share of Net (Loss) after tax (162)

PEXA’s share of Net (Loss) after tax and total comprehensive income (162)

24.  Events After Balance Sheet Date

Acquisition of Slate Analytics Pty Ltd
In July 2022, the PEXA Group subsidiary, PEXA Insights, paid FrontierSI $7.0 million to acquire a 70% ownership in a newly 
created entity – Slate Analytics Pty Ltd (Slate Analytics). The investment allows PEXA to partner with the University of NSW 
and FrontierSI in providing valuation and dynamic scenario modelling. 

Slate Analytics had not traded or operated prior to this investment however it held the intellectual property rights to a range 
of Automated Valuations Models valued at $10.0 million. No other assets or liabilities within Slate Analytics have been 
acquired as part of the transaction. The accounting treatment for the investment is ongoing at the date of the financial 
statements and additional disclosure will be provided during the year ending 30 June 2023.
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Proposed acquisition of I.D. Consulting Pty Ltd and I.D. (informed decisions) Pty Ltd 
(collectively, ID)
On 26 August 2022, the Group announced its subsidiary, PEXA Insights, has entered into an agreement to acquire 100% of 
leading Australian grown demographic based consulting group, ID for an initial payment of $20 million. 

ID is a land information business that provides demographic and economic data and forecasts at the micro-geographic 
level to over 300 local councils across Australia and New Zealand. ID comprises a team of skilled demographic and spatial 
analysts, population forecasters, urban economists, industry sector experts, and technology and data management 
specialists. Further details in relation to the proposed acquisition are included in the Group’s ASX release regarding ID.

The proposed acquisition of ID will be funded from PEXA’s existing cash reserves and is subject to customary transaction 
conditions and approvals. The Group anticipates completion of the proposed acquisition by 30 September 2022, which 
is after the authorised date of issue of the Group’s 30 June 2022 financial statements. As a result, details of any final 
consideration paid and details of the final fair value of any major classes of assets, liabilities and associated goodwill that 
may be acquired are not yet finalised.

No other event or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2022 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect:

	• The Group’s operations in future financial years;

	• The results of those operations in future financial years; or

	• The Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

25.  Commitments and Contingencies 

Capital commitments 
The Group had no quantifiable capital commitments at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: nil).

Residential guarantee
The wholly owned subsidiary, Property Exchange Australia Limited, offers the PEXA Residential Seller Guarantee (PRSG) to 
provide protection to residential sellers in the event of certain kinds of fraud. Where the PRSG applies, the vendor (seller) has 
the option to make a claim against PEXA, rather than seeking to recover the loss by an alternative means.

The Group’s obligations are held by Property Exchange Australia Limited and are capped at $2 million per claim.  
No amounts relating to the PRSG have been provided for in the 30 June 2022 financial report.

Contingent liabilities
The Group is subject to a number of contractual obligations in agreements which, if not discharged or considered not to be 
discharged, may give rise to potential claims or other costs. These agreements exist to allow the Group to perform its day to 
day operations and monitor its various regulatory obligations appropriately. 

Those obligations are included in a number of operating, participation, performance, trading and settlement agreements 
with various government bodies, financial institutions, state registrars, practitioners and regulators (such as ARNECC), 
in both Australia and the United Kingdom, with varying levels of potential liability. The Group is not aware of any actual or 
alleged non‑performance of any obligations as at 30 June 2022.

As at 30 June 2022 there are no contingent liabilities (2021: nil).
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26.  Auditors’ Remuneration 
During the year payments were made to our auditors for services in addition to the annual audit of the financial accounts of 
the Group. The following is detail of audit and other services:

Ernst & Young
2022 

$
2021 

$

Audit and assurance services

Category 1 – Group and statutory audit fees 350,000 463,510

Category 2 – Other assurance services – 152,000

Category 3 – Other services 245,500 1,255,000

Total auditor remuneration 595,500 1,870,510

Category 1 – Fees to the Group auditor for: (i) auditing the statutory financial report of the parent covering the group; (ii) review 
of the half year financial report of the parent covering the group; and (iii) auditing the statutory financial reports of any controlled 
entities. In the year ended 30 June 2021, fees also included historical audits performed as part of the IPO process.

Category 2 – Fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-procedures services under other legislation or contractual 
arrangements where there is discretion as to whether the service is provided by the auditor or another firm.

Category 3 – Fees paid or payable for other services. In the year ended 30 June 2021 services primarily related to the 
significant level of transaction activity associated with the PEXA Group IPO.

Ernst & Young has provided an auditor’s independence declaration to the Directors of the PEXA Group confirming that the 
provision of the other services has not impaired their independence as auditors.

27.  Information Relating to PEXA Group Limited (The Parent)

2022 
$’000

2021 
$’000

Current assets 8,518 2,427

Total assets 1,761,136 1,748,940

Current liabilities – (198,550)

Total liabilities (528,184) (715,079)

Issued share capital (1,268,362) (1,058,198)

Equity reserves (8,308) (7,589)

Retained earnings 43,718 31,926

(Loss) of the parent entity (11,792) (31,096)

Total comprehensive (loss) of the parent entity (11,792) (31,096)

The Parent had no commitments as at 30 June 2022 (2021: nil).
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Directors’ Declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of PEXA Group Limited, I state that:

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a)	� The financial statements and associated notes set out on pages 80 to 125 are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:

	 (i)	� Giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2022 and of its performance 
for the year then ended; and

	 (ii)	� Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and

	 (iii)	� the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 
in Note 2(a); and

(b)	� There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

(c)	� This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors by the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

On behalf of the board

Mark Joiner 
Chairman

26 August 2022
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of PEXA Group Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of PEXA Group Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
30 June 2022, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ 
declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:  

a. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 
2022 and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit 
addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
accompanying financial report. 

  


